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On behalf of the Board, I am pleased to present the annual results of Global Green Tech Group 

Limited (“Global Green” / the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2007.

2007 was marked by various global economic concerns including inflation pressure, rising 

oil prices, turbulence in global financial markets and widening fears of a U.S. recession caused by 

subprime crisis. However, economic growth in Asian countries, fueled by strong domestic demand, 

continued to expand healthily.

It has no exception for Hong Kong. The Hang Seng Index reached an historic high of 31,958 

on 30 October 2007. But after that, there has been a significant market correction at end of the year. 

Market volatility increased on the back of a deceleration in global growth, rising domestic costs and the 

continued introduction of austerity measures.

BUSINESS REVIEW
Turnover rose to HK$1,071.83 million, representing an increase of 26.56% from that of 

HK$846.92 million a year ago. Gross profit increased to HK$545.26 million, representing an increase of 

46.67% from that of HK$371.76 million in the last year. Profit increased to HK$358.46 million, 32.2% 

above last year’s HK$271.14 million. Basic earnings per share was HK$0.2785 (2006: HK$0.1972).

The Mainland Chinese Government’s continuous effort to boost domestic consumption began to 

show results in 2007, in particular retail industry having expanded by over 16%. Increasing number of 

middle class with higher spending power made our cosmetics and skincare business remain the Group’s 

largest contributor to the revenues and net profits in this year. Appreciation in value of investment 

in securities and income generated from bonds, foreign currencies and other fixed income assets 

portfolio are also key contributing components of the revenues and net profits. At the meantime, our 

core businesses, industrial surfactants and household products, continued to generate stable recurring 

income and profits to the Group.

OUTLOOK
It is widely believed that the Mainland Chinese economy will maintain its strong growth in 

the coming years and the government will continue to shift the economy growth toward domestic 

consumption. Riding on the growing disposable income and strong emergence of the middle class, the 

Group is well positioned to capture the significant opportunities in cosmetics and skincare products 

market.

Taken advantage of the Group’s successful branding strategy, MB was established as a leading 

player in Hong Kong, which is expected to bring strong recurring income to the Group. We also expect 
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to see the demand for MB growing steadily in the Mainland China. The Group will focus on gaining 

bigger market share for MB in the Mainland China market by expansion of its sales network.

Other than developing the growth driven cosmetics and skincare products business, the Group, 

in line with the two-pronged strategy employed for a long time, will strive to maintain a reasonable profit 

margin for its traditional industrial surfactants and household products businesses. These businesses 

are used to contribute stable income for the Group, providing resources to fund new business 

developments with promising potential. At the same time, the Group will also capture the tremendous 

opportunities in the green recycling energy business and biotech field. The new emerging industrial 

enzymes business and the green recycling energy business are expected to start contributing to the 

Group’s revenues in year 2008 and 2009 respectively.

APPRECIATION
On behalf of the Board, I would like to extend my sincere gratitude to our customers and 

business partners for their continuous support. I would also like to thank our management team and 

staff for their dedication and hard work over the past year; and our shareholders for their unwavering 

confidence in the Group. With their valuable support, Global Green is well positioned to grow its 

business in the future.

By Order of the Board

Lau Jin Wei, Jim

Chairman

10 March 2008
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BUSINESS REVIEW
2007 is an exceptional year for Global Green, which it attained a significant growth in both 

turnover and profit. Turnover rose to HK$1,071.83 million, representing an increase of 26.56% from 

that of HK$846.92 million a year ago. Gross profit increased to HK$545.26 million, representing an 

increase of 46.67% from that of HK$371.76 million in the last year. Profit increased to HK$358.46 

million, 32.2% above last year’s HK$271.14 million. Basic earnings per share was HK$0.2785 (2006: 

HK$0.1972).

In 2007, the cosmetics and skincare business remained the Group’s largest contributor to the 

revenues and net profits. Appreciation in value of investment in securities and income generated from 

bonds, foreign currencies and other fixed income assets portfolio are also key contributing components 

of the revenues and net profits. At the meantime, our core businesses, industrial surfactants and 

household products, continued to generate stable recurring income and profits to the Group.

OPERATIONAL REVIEW
I. Household Products

For the period under review, turnover of household products increased to HK$167.19 million, 

representing a slightly increase of 0.61% from a year ago and accounting for 15.60% of the Group’s 

total turnover.

Despite the cost increase in major raw materials and keen market competition, the Group was 

able to strategically shift part of its cost to customers. With a strong R&D team, the Group could 

also regularly introduce new products to address the more sophisticated customer needs. The Group 

believes that with its competitive pricing and marketing strategy, this segment will maintain a steady 

growth and be an ongoing momentum of the Group.

II. Industrial Surfactants

For the year ended 31 December 2007, turnover of industrial surfactants went up by 14.87% 

reaching HK$296.4 million, accounting for 27.65% of the Group’s total turnover.

Industrial surfactants, with a long operation history and a strong customer base, used to be 

the Group’s primary business. The Group was able to boost up its profit margin through continuous 

implementation of cost control measures. Its environmental-friendly industrial surfactants were also 

benefited from the rising awareness of environmental protection issue by the PRC Government. The 

Group will continue to lower the production costs of this segment by means of production of industrial 

enzymes and development of substitute materials. The new factory for production of replacement 

materials will help to minimise the Group’s exposure to risks from increase or fluctuation of production 

costs of industrial segment.



ANNUAL REPORT 2007

Global Green Tech Group Limited

Management Discussion and Analysis

6

III. Cosmetics And Skincare Products

During the review period, turnover of cosmetics and skincare products rose 42.44% to 

HK$583.27 million, accounting for 54.35% of the Group’s total turnover. This segment has become one 

of the key growth drivers of the Group.

The PRC economy continued its rapid growth in the year 2007. The domestic consumption 

sector also recorded an impressive growth, in particular the retail industry which lifts the demand surge 

for high quality cosmetics and skincare products. The Group’s effective branding strategy with celebrity 

spokesperson, sponsorship of television programmes, and advertising campaigns through variety of 

media continued to strengthen our brand name amongst consumers and led to increase in sales.

With a state-of-the-art GMP-production base and R&D technique, the Group continued its 

expansion into the European and North American markets by providing ODM cosmetics and skincare 

products in the formats of gift and premium. This fast growing business registered a significant growth 

in revenue again in the year 2007.

In December 2007, one of our major cosmetics branch subsidiaries in the PRC, Global 

Cosmetics (China) Company Limited was awarded “High New Technology Enterprise in Guangdong” 

(廣東省高新技術企業) by the Guangdong Science and Technology Council (廣東省科學技術廳). By 

obtaining this award, Global Cosmetics (China) Company Limited will enjoy a preferential state income 

tax rate of 15% from the years 2009 to 2013 (both years inclusive).

IV. Biotechnology Products

The biotechnology products business comprises mainly production of patented biotech raw 

materials for medical companies and internally consumption.

V. Investments

The Group’s investment portfolio had got a significant appreciation as at 31 December 2007. 

During the year ended 31 December 2007, total amount of operating profit generated in this segment 

reached HK$20.77 million as compared with HK$35.13 million in the last year. As at 31 December 

2007, total market value of marketable securities held by the Group amounted to HK$198.79 million.

ANALYSIS OF OPERATING EXPENSES
Selling and distribution expenses for the year ended 31 December 2007 amounted to HK$83.78 

million representing 7.82% of turnover compared with that of HK$50.89 million or 6.01% of turnover for 

last year. As compared with last year, the amount spending on advertising and promotion of cosmetics 

and skincare products increased by HK$30.78 million.



ANNUAL REPORT 2007

Global Green Tech Group Limited

Management Discussion and Analysis

7

General and administrative expenses was HK$139 million or 12.97% of turnover for the year 

ended 31 December 2007 compared to that of HK$89.41 million or 10.56% of turnover for the 

preceding year, due to increase in professional and consultancy fee associated with preparation of 

spinning off of cosmetics group by HK$31.92 million, increase in salaries by HK$11.65 million, increase 

in auditors’ remuneration by HK$1.7 million and the increase in general provision for receivables.

Total depreciation charges for fixed assets for the year ended 31 December 2007 amounted to 

HK$76.14 million (2006: HK$53.67 million), due to completion of the new production complex and staff 

quarters for cosmetics and skincare products and commence operation of the new machineries and 

equipments installed.

Total amortisation charges for intangible assets and leasehold hand for own use amounted to 

HK$9.84 million (2006: HK$12.25 million).

Finance costs for the year ended 31 December 2007 amounted to HK$14.38 million, mainly due 

to interest expenses of the syndicated loan.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM ISSUE OF SHARES AND WARRANTS
During the year, 51,274,500 share options and 85,492,524 warrants were exercised at an 

average exercise price of HK$0.89 per ordinary share and HK$0.98 per ordinary share respectively 

with gross cash proceeds of approximately HK$129.05 million, before any related expenses. The net 

proceeds from exercise of share options and warrants were used to finance general working capital 

requirement. The exercise of 51,274,500 share options and 85,492,524 resulted in the issue of 

136,767,024 additional ordinary shares of the Company.

LIQUDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES
The Group maintained cash or cash equivalent of approximately HK$515.72 million as at the 

balance sheet date. The Group adopts conservative treasury policies in cash and financial management. 

Most of the retained cash was placed as Renminbi and Hong Kong Dollar short term deposits and 

therefore exposure to exchange fluctuations was minimal. The Group also invested in a combination of 

portfolio investments such as marketable securities, bonds, funds, foreign currencies and fixed income 

assets in order to increase the financial returns. Shareholders’ fund as at 31 December 2007 was 

HK$2,373.79 million compared with that of HK$1,733.91 million as at 31 December 2006, representing 

an increase of HK$639.88 million or 36.9%.

The Group’s capital expenditure for the year ended 31 December 2007 amounted to HK$161.12 

million were funded from cash generated from operations and bank loans.
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The indebtedness of the Group mainly comprises of trust receipt loans, bank loans and finance 

leases which are largely denominated in Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi. The Group’s borrowings are 

closely monitored to ensure a smooth repayment schedule to maturity.

The banking facilities mainly comprised of trust receipt loans and invoice financing loan of tenor 

up to 120 days from the invoice date. The bank interest rates are fixed by reference to either the Hong 

Kong Prime rate or the Hong Kong Interbank Offer Rate.

As at 31 December 2007, the Group’s banking facilities had been utilized to the extent of 

approximately HK$255.53 million which included the syndicated loan.

The Group’s inventory turnover period was 53 days. Debtor’s and creditor’s turnover periods 

were approximately 37 days and 58 days respectively.

Debt to equity ratio (total interest bearing debts over shareholders’ funds) and gearing ratio (total 

interest bearing debts over total assets) were 15.77% and 12.16% respectively whereas current ratio 

and interest coverage were 4.17 and 30.11 respectively.

PROSPECTS
New Business with Enormous Potential – Green Recycle Energy

Regarding the green energy recycling project (the “Project”), the Hong Kong Science and 

Technology Parks Corporation of HKSAR Government granted a site of approximately 24,000 square 

metres in the Yuen Long Industrial Estate at approximately HK$39.01 million for the Group to set up 

its recycle energy business. Construction work is expected to complete in the second half of 2008 and 

production will commence in the second quarter of 2009. The Group believes that this business will 

become one of the major sources of revenue to the Group in future.

The Group will first develop the Hong Kong market, mainly through wholesaling high quality 

petroleum products to different public transportation corporations. In the long run, the Group targets to 

expand the business to overseas markets under high oil price pressure, such as Singapore, Malaysia 

and Japan. The Group believes its development strategy will accelerate its growth and bring remarkable 

returns to shareholders.
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BIOTECH PRODUCTS
Through years of collaboration with R&D team in University of Hong Kong as well as the grant 

from Innovation and Technology Fund of the HKSAR Government, the industrial enzymes entered the 

final phrase of commercialization. The Directors believe that this business will start bringing revenues 

to industrial segment in 2008. The Group also believes that the production of industrial enzymes will 

greatly reduce its reliance on overseas import as well as production costs.

COSMETICS AND SKINCARE PRODUCTS
Currently, the Group has nine product series which are under the brand name of “Marjorie 

Bertagne (MB)”. Besides, we have also developed colour cosmetics and personal care products 

through our in-house products design and development team, under our own private label brand names, 

targeting at overseas and the PRC markets in 2008.

Other than that, we also design and produce high quality skincare products, colour cosmetics and 

toiletries for our ODM and OEM customers in Europe and United States at competitive prices. As part 

of the “one-stop service” of this ODM and OEM business, we also provide research, development, 

sourcing, merchandising and technical enquires to our customers.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES
The Group’s clear and effective management policies have enabled it to maintain good staff 

relations. It has not encountered any difficulties in recruiting experienced personnel and there has 

not been any interruption to its operations as a result of labour disputes. The Group provides social 

security benefits encompassing the mandatory provident fund and health insurance scheme to all its 

employees. It does not shoulder any material liability arising from the relevant statutory retirement 

scheme.

As at 31 December 2007, the Group had 1,264 salaried employees of which 1,188 and 76 

were stationed respectively in the PRC and in Hong Kong. Total staff costs paid during the year was 

approximately HK$57.54 million.
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CONTINGENT LIABILITY AND CHARGE ON GROUP ASSETS
The Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2007.

As at 31 December 2007, the banking facilities of the Group were secured by corporate 

guarantees executed by the Company and certain subsidiaries of the Group.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Lau Jin Wei, Jim, aged 38, is the Chairman of the Company and a co-founder of the 

Group. He holds a bachelors of arts and science degree in economic studies from the University of 

York in Canada. Throughout the years, Mr. Lau is responsible for the overall strategic planning and 

business development of the group as well as the overall management of the Group’s operations. He 

successfully led the Group to expand the business from industrial surfactants to home and personal 

care products.

Mr. Wong Ying Yin, aged 47, joined the Group in April 2001 and appointed as Executive Director 

on 31 December 2004. Mr. Wong was responsible for the home and personal care division of the 

Group. Before joining the Group, Mr. Wong had over 23 years of experience in sales industry.

Mr. Bang Young Bae, aged 48, is currently the head of the fine chemicals and research and 

development division of the Group. Mr. Bang was appointed as Director of the Company on 9 June 

2006. Mr. Bang holds a bachelor of science degree in biochemistry from the Hanyang University, Seoul, 

Korea. He has extensive experience in research and development in the industry. Before joining the 

Group in 2003, Mr. Bang worked in well-known cosmetics-manufacturing companies in Korea where he 

obtained useful management and technological knowledge and skills.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Ou Ying Ji, aged 69, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director in October 

2000. He holds a bachelor of science degree in electronics from the Tsinghua University, the PRC. 

Mr. Ou has extensive experience in the research and development in the computer industry. He also 

worked as the Chief Engineer for the communication section of Ministry of Public Security Guangdong 

Province (廣東省公安廳) from 1986 to 1999 and has contributed to the development of computerized 

identification system for the PRC customs in Shenzhen which was recognized by the relevant 

authorities in the PRC as one of the nationally distinguished research and development projects.

Mr. Lin Jian, aged 73, joined the Group as an independent non-executive Director in September 

2004. Before joining the Group, Mr. Lin was a professor in Biological Engineering at Jinan University 

(暨南大學) in Guangzhou, the PRC. He had also held various local social offices including Committee 

Member of the Technology Consultancy Committee of the Government of the Guangdong Province (廣

東省政府科技技術諮詢委員會) and the Managing Director of the Biological Engineering Society of the 

Guangdong Province (廣東省生物工程學會理事長).
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Mr. Lee Pak Chung, aged 44, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director in 

September 2004. Mr. Lee obtained a Master degree in Business Administration from the Hong Kong 

University of Science and Technology. He is a Member of the Association of Chartered Certified 

Accountants, the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and is a Certified Public 

Accountant practising in Hong Kong. Mr. Lee has over 16 years of professional and commercial 

experience in accounting, auditing, taxation and corporate finance. Since August 2002, Mr. Lee has 

been an independent non-executive director of Ming Fung Jewellery Group Limited, a company listed 

on the main board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”).

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Mr. Ko Sik Fong, aged 41, is the General Manager of the industrial surfactant division of the 

Group. He is responsible for the sales, marketing, purchasing and production of the Group. He has 

over 14 years of experience in chemical industry in Hong Kong. He joined the Group in July 1995.

Mr. Zhou Jia, aged 37, is the Sales Manager of the industrial surfactants division of the 

Group. He is responsible for the overall sales of industrial surfactants division of the Group. Mr. Zhou 

graduated from Tian Jin Textile College in 1993 and received a bachelor degree in Knitting Chemical 

Engineering. He had over 14 experience in the textile industry. He joined the Group in 1996.

Ms. Judy Lau, aged 43, is the Chairman and an executive Director of the cosmetics group. She 

started her business career in 1994. She has successfully led the launching o the “Marjorie Bertagne” 

(MB) brand in both Hong Kong and China. Ms. Lau is responsible for the cosmetics group’s overall 

business development, strategic planning and execution of policies for both Hong Kong and China 

operation.

Ms. Wong Wai Kwan Conne, aged 58, is the Chief Executive Officer and an executive Director 

of the cosmetics group. She joined the Group in April 2000. Ms. Wong has over 30 years of experience 

in the skincare and colour cosmetics industry and had worked for various international leading brands 

such as Revlon, MaxFactor and Avon.

Ms. Lui Wai Mui Grace, aged 58, is the Chief Operation Officer and an executive Director of 

the cosmetics group. She joined the cosmetics group in September 2004. Ms. Lui has over 30 years of 

experience in the skincare and colour cosmetics industry.

Ms. Tan Jie, aged 46, is the purchasing manager of the cosmetics group. Ms. Tan joined the 

Group in June 2000 and is responsible for purchasing raw materials and inventory control. Ms. Tan has 

over 15 years of experience in research and development and production management of cosmetics 

products. Ms. Tan holds a certificate in Applied Chemistry from Anhui University, China.
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Mr. Chwang Tak Ming Joseph, aged 56, is the production manager of the cosmetics group. Mr. 

Chwang joined the cosmetics group in January 2007. He has over 20 years of experience in production 

implementation and management. Mr. Chwang holds a Bachelor’s degree in Business Administration 

from the University of Windsor, Canada.

Ms. Leung Yuen Ling, aged 39, is the Marketing and Product Development Department Manager 

of the cosmetics group. Ms. Leung joined the cosmetics group in January 2005 and she is responsible 

for marketing, product development, sales and promotion, public relations and advertising of our 

cosmetics business in Hong Kong and greater China. Ms. Leung has over 18 years of experience in 

sales and marketing in the cosmetics industry.

Mr. Siu Chu Sin, Vincent, aged 48, is the project manager of the cosmetics group’s Research 

and Development. Mr. Siu joined the Group in February 2004 and is responsible for the research and 

development of bio-cosmetic products. He has over 16 years of experience in the field of Biotechnology 

and he is experienced in large scale production of bio-cosmetic products being familiar with upstream 

and downstream processes. He received a bachelor degree from Hong Kong University of Science and 

Technology in 2001.

Mr. Chu Wai Tak, aged 29, is the project manager of the cosmetics group’s Research and 

Development Department as well as the Production Department of bio-cosmetic products. Mr. Chu 

joined our Group in June 2001 and he is responsible for the research and development as well as 

overseeing the production of bio-cosmetic products. He has over seven years of experience in the field 

of Biotechnology and he is experienced in large scale production of bio-cosmetic products being familiar 

with upstream and downstream processes. He received a bachelor degree from Hong Kong University 

of Science and Technology in 2001.

Mr. Yang Xiaowu , aged 35, joined the Company as the Vice President of Investment Public 

Relation of our Group in March 2008, responsible for corporate finance and investor relations matters. 

Mr. Yang has over 12 years of experience in capital markets and corporate finance. Before joining the 

Company. Mr. Yang worked as Vice President in Global Markets. Deutsche Bank (Asia), and Director in 

CIBC World Markets. Mr. Yang holds a degree of MBA in Finance from Rotman School of Management. 

University of Toronto, Canada, and Bachelor in Economics from Guangzhou Institute of Foreign Trade, 

China. Mr. Yang is also a CFA charter holder.

Mr. Chow Kai Ming, aged 42, is the Financial Controller and Company Secretary of the Group. 

He is responsible for Group’s finance and company secretarial matters. Mr. Chow holds a bachelor 

degree in business administration from the Hong Kong Baptist University and is a fellow member of the 

Hong Kong Society of Accountants. He has over 17 years of experience in finance and administration. 

He joined the Group in December 2001.
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Mr. Zeng Fan Nian, aged 38, is the PRC Accounting Manager of the Group. He is responsible 

for the Group’s finance and accounting activities in the PRC. He holds a bachelor degree in accounting 

from the Wuhan University, the PRC. He has over 15 years of experience in finance and accounting. He 

joined the Group in November 1995.

Mr. Ng Yuk Yeung, aged 34, joined the cosmetics group as the Chief Financial Officer and 

Company Secretary in May 2007 and is responsible for supervising financial reporting, corporate 

finance, treasury, tax and other related finance matters of the cosmetics group. Mr. Ng has 

extensive experience in auditing and financial management, mostly gained from positions in one of 

the international firms of certified public accountants and a blue chip listed company. Mr. Ng holds a 

Bachelor’s degree in Computer Science from the University of Hong Kong and is a fellow member of 

the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified 

Public Accountants and a member of the CFA Institute.

Ms. Huang Bilian, aged 44, joined the Group as Project Manager of Research and Development 

in January 2003 and is responsible for the research and development of bio-tech products. Ms. Huang 

received her Bachelor Degree from Xiamen University in 1986. Before joining the Group, she worked 

from various pharmaceutical companies and hospitals as senior researcher in the bio-engineering field.

Mr. Wu Wei Qiang, aged 34, joined the Group as Senior Researcher in April 2001 and is 

responsible for the research and development of industrial and household products for the Group. Mr. 

Wu received his Bachelor Degree from Dalian Technical University in 1997. He had over 10 years of 

experience in chemical industry.

Ms. Cai Fang, aged 27, joined the Group as Assistant to Purchasing Manager in April 2003 and 

is responsible for procurement of raw materials for industrial and household products. She had over 10 

years of experience in the related field. She was promoted to Purchasing Manager in October 2007.

Mr. Qiu Jun Rong, aged 33, joined the Group as Production Supervisor in February 1998 and 

is responsible for the production of industrial products. Mr. Qiu has over 16 years of experience in the 

related industry. He was promoted to Production Manager of the industrial division in October 2007.

Ms. Wu Jian Rong, aged 33, joined the Group as Production Supervisor in February 1998 and 

is responsible for the production of household products. Ms. Wu has over 9 years of experience in the 

related industry. She was promoted to Production Manager of the houehold division in October 2007.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES
The board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) is committed to maintaining a high standard 

of corporate governance. The Board believes that a high standard of corporate governance will provide 

a framework of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) to formulate the business 

strategies and policies, and manage the associated risks through effective internal control procedures. 

The Board also believes that good corporate governance practices are increasingly important for 

maintaining and promoting shareholder value and investor confidence.

The Company has adopted most of the major code provisions set out in the Code on Corporate 

Governance Practices (the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing 

of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”). In the opinion of the 

Board, the Company has complied with the applicable code provisions in the CG Code throughout the 

year ended 31 December 2007, except for certain deviations that are discussed later in this report.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Composition

The Board comprises six directors (“Director(s)”) of the Company of which three are executive 

Directors and three are independent non-executive Directors. The members of Directors and Board 

Committee as at the date of this annual report are as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Lau Jin Wei, Jim (Chairman)

Mr. Wong Ying Yin

Mr. Bang Young Bae

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Ou Ying Ji

Mr. Lin Jian

Mr. Lee Pak Chung

The Board formulates overall strategies and policies of the Group. It also ensures the availability 

of adequate capital and managerial resources to implement the strategies adopted, the adequacy of 

systems of financial and internal controls and the conduct of business in conformity with applicable 

laws and regulations. Decisions requiring the Board’s approval include, among others, all matters of 

objective and strategic importance, corporate governance practices, changes in Board members, major 

transactions and investment commitments, annual budget and financial matters, all policy matters etc. 

The day-to-day management, administration and operation of the Company are delegated to senior 

management which is accountable to the Board for the implementation of the Group’s overall strategies 

and coordination of overall business operations.
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The Board members are fully committed to their roles and have always acted, individually 

and collectively, in the best interests of the Company and its shareholders at all times. To the 

best knowledge of the Company, there is no financial, business, family or other material/ relevant 

relationship amongst Directors. Biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 11 to 14 

under the section headed “Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report.

During the year ended 31 December 2007 (the “Year”), the Board held 4 regular/special Board 

meetings. The attendance of each member at the Board meetings is set out below:

 Number of meetings

Name attended/Total

Executive Directors

Mr. Lau Jin Wei, Jim 4/4

Mr. Wong Ying Yin 4/4

Mr. Bang Young Bae 2/4

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Ou Ying Ji 4/4

Mr. Lin Jian 4/4

Mr. Lee Pak Chung 4/4

Notes:

1. One of the aforesaid Board meeting discussed matters regarding the directors’ remuneration and re-

election of directors.

2. The Chairman of the Board attended the Company’s annual general meeting held on 28 May 2007.

Chairman

The roles of the chairman of the Board and the chief executive officer of the Company have been 

performed by Mr. Lau Jin Wei, Jim. The Board considered that the non-segregation would not result in 

considerable concentration of power in one person and has the advantage of a strong and consistent 

leadership which is conducive to making and implementing decisions quickly and consistently.

Mr. Lau Jin Wei, Jim, being the Chairman of the Group since 25 September 2000, takes the lead 

in formulating overall strategies and policies of the Group; ensures the effective performance by the 

Board of its functions, including compliance with good corporate governance practices and encourages 

and facilitates active contribution of Directors in Board activities. He also ensures that all Directors are 

properly briefed on issues arising at Board meetings and have received adequate, complete and reliable 

information in a timely manner with the assistance of the company secretary.
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Executive Directors

The executive Directors are responsible for running the Group and executing the strategies 

adopted by the Board. They lead the Group’s management team in accordance with the directions set 

by the Board and are responsible for ensuring that proper internal control system is in place and the 

Group’s business conforms to applicable laws and regulations.

Independent Non-executive Directors

The independent non-executive Directors serve the important function of ensuring and monitoring 

the basis for an effective corporate governance framework. Their participations provide adequate 

checks and balances to safeguard the interests of the Group and its shareholders. The Board 

consists of three independent non-executive Directors and one of them have appropriate professional 

qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise. The Company has received from 

each of the independent non-executive Directors a confirmation of independence for the Year pursuant 

to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. On this basis, the Company considers all such Directors to be 

independent.

Service Term of Independent Non-executive Directors

In compliance with code provision A.4.1 of the CG Code, each independent non-executive 

Director should be appointed for a specific term and subject to re-election. All independent non-

executive Directors are not appointed for a specific term but subject to retirement by rotation in 

accordance with the Articles of Association of the Company.

Audit Committee

The Company established an audit committee on 28 October 2000. The audit committee 

currently comprises three independent non-executive Directors. The functions of the audit committee 

are:–

• to make recommendations to the board concerning the appointment, reappointment, 

retention, evaluation and termination of compensation and overseeing the work of the 

Company’s independent auditor

• to approve all non-audit services to be provided by the Company’s independent auditor

• to approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of the Company’s independent 

auditor

• to review the relationships between the Company and the independent auditor

• to approve the hiring of any employee or former employee of the Company’s independent 

auditor who was a member of the audit team during the preceding two years
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• to review the Company’s annual and interim financial statements, accounting policies and 

practices, the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures and 

developments in financial reporting practices and requirements

• to review the Company’s risk assessment and management policies

• to review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s legal and regulatory 

compliance procedures

• to obtain and review reports from management and the independent auditor regarding 

compliance with applicable legal and regulatory requirements.

During the Year, the audit committee held 2 meetings with full attendance, details of which are 

set out below:–

 Number of meetings

Members attended/Total

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Ou Ying Ji 2/2

Mr. Lin Jian 2/2

Mr. Lee Pak Chung (Chairman) 2/2

Under code provisions C.3.4 of the CG Code, the terms of reference of audit committee are 

required to be made available on request and included on the issuer’s website. At present, the terms of 

reference of the audit committee would be available on request and have not yet posted to the website.

Remuneration and Nomination Committees

Currently, no remuneration and nomination committees have been established and none of their 

terms of reference has been made. Meanwhile, the Board is responsible for:

• to recommend to the board on the Company’s policies and structure for the remuneration 

of the directors and senior management of the Group

• to determine the remuneration packages of all executive directors and senior management

• to review and approve performance-based remuneration
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• to review and approve the compensation payable to executive directors and senior 

management in connection with any loss or termination of office or appointment

No Director decides his or her own remuneration.

In addition, the Board as a whole is responsible for the procedure agreeing to the appointment 

of its own members and for nominating them for election by the shareholders on first appointment and 

thereafter at regular interval of rotation. Pursuant to the Articles of Association of the Company, the 

Directors are subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years and new Directors are 

required to submit themselves for re-election at the next following general meeting of the Company 

following their appointment.

The Company has not established any nomination committee and the Chairman of the Board is 

mainly responsible for identifying appropriate candidates to fill the casual vacancy whenever it arises or 

to add additional member as and when required. The Chairman will propose the qualified candidate(s) 

to the Board for consideration. The Board will approve the appointment based on the suitability and 

qualification of the candidate.

The remuneration committee and the nomination committee will be established once their 

compositions are decided and the Board will review and formulate the terms of references in 

accordance with the CG Code in due course.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTION
The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors (the “Model 

Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding securities 

transactions by the Directors.

Having made specific enquiry of the Directors, all Directors confirmed that they had compiled 

with the required standards as set out in the Model Code throughout the Year.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
Financial Reporting

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing all information and representations 

contained in the financial statements of the Group for the Year. The Directors consider that the financial 

statements have been prepared in conformity with the generally accepted accounting standards in Hong 

Kong, and reflect amounts that are based on the best estimates and reasonable, informed and prudent 

judgment of the Board and management with an appropriate consideration to materiality. The Directors, 

having made appropriate enquiries, are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or 

conditions which may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. 

Accordingly, the Directors have prepared the financial statements of the Company on a going concern 

basis.
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The statement of the auditors of the Company regarding their responsibilities on the financial 

statements is set out in the Auditors’ Report on pages 34 to 35 of this annual report.

Internal Controls

The Group’s system of internal control includes a defined management structure with limits 

of authority, and is designed to help the Group achieve its business objectives, safeguard its assets 

against unauthorized use or disposition, ensure the maintenance of proper accounting records for the 

provision of reliable financial information for internal use or for publication, and ensure compliance with 

relevant laws and regulations. The system is designed to provide reasonable assurance against material 

misstatement or loss, and to manage risks of failure in the Group’s operational systems and in the 

achievement of the Group’s business objectives.

The Group does not have an internal audit department and no formal independent internal control 

review had been performed for the year 2007. However, the Board has overall responsibilities for the 

maintenance of a sound and effective internal control system of the Group. During the Year under 

review, the Board has conducted a review of the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control system 

and considered that it is adequate and effective.

In order to further strengthen the internal control system of the Group, the Group has decided to 

establish an on-going internal control review program and engaged an independent qualified professional 

to carry out the program on material operational systems in 2008.  The results of such review will be 

reported during the 2008 interim results announcement.

Auditors’ Remuneration

An analysis of the remuneration of the Company’s auditors, CCIF CPA Limited, for the Year is 

set out as follows:

 Fee paid/payable

Services rendered Approximately

 HK$

Audit services (2006: approximately HK$2,305,000) 2,006,000

Non-audit services  Nil

Taxation services Nil

Other services Nil
 

Total: 2,006,000
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
The Company believes that effective communication with shareholders is essential for enhancing 

investor relations and investors’ understanding of the Group’s business performance and strategies. 

The Company recognises the importance of transparency and timely disclosure of corporate information 

which enables shareholders and investors to make the best investment decision.

To promote effective communication, the Company has established, including but not limited to, 

the following various channels:

1. annual general meeting provides a forum for shareholders of the Company to raise 

comments and exchange views with the Board. The Chairman and the Directors are 

available at annual general meetings to address shareholders’ queries;

2. separate resolutions are proposed at general meetings on each substantially separate 

issue and procedures for demanding a poll in general meetings are included in circulars to 

the shareholders to facilitate the enforcement of shareholders’ rights;

3. interim and annual results are announced as early as possible so that the shareholders are 

kept informed of the Group’s performance and operations; and

4. corporate website www.globalgreentech.com contains extensive information and updates 

on the Company’s business developments and operations, financial information and other 

information.
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The Directors submit their report together with the audited accounts for the year ended 31 

December 2007.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND GEOGRAPHICAL ANALYSIS OF OPERATIONS
The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The activities of the principal 

subsidiaries are set out in note 24(b) to the accounts.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year by business and geographical segments is 

set out in note 14 to the accounts.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS
The results of the Group for the year are set out in the consolidated income statement on page 

36.

The Directors do not recommend payment of a final dividend for the year ended 31 December 

2007 (2006: HK$0.03 per ordinary share). Capital will be reserved to fund the research and 

development of the Group’s green energy recycling project.

RESERVES
Movements in the reserves of the Group and of the Company during the year are set out in note 

39 to the accounts.

FIXED ASSETS
Details of the movements in fixed assets of the Group are set out in note 16 to the accounts.

PRINCIPAL PROPERTIES
Details of the principal properties held for investment purposes are set out in page 120.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of the movements in share capital of the Company are set out in note 38 to the accounts.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES
Details of the distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 December 2007 are set out in note 

39 to the accounts.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Articles of Association and 

there are no restrictions against such rights under the laws in the Cayman Islands.
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial 

years is set out on page 118 to 119.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED SECURITIES
During the year, the Company did not repurchase its own shares.

BANK LOANS, OVERDRAFTS AND OBLIGATIONS UNDER FINANCE LEASES
The Group’s bank loans, overdrafts and obligations under finance leases as at 31 December 

2007 are repayable over the following periods:

 Bank loans Obligations

 and under finance

 overdrafts leases Total

 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Within one year 60,000 39 60,039

In the second year 180,000 34 180,034
   

 240,000 73 240,073
   

SHARE OPTIONS
Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed at an extraordinary general meeting of the Company 

held on 20 December 2001, the share option scheme adopted by the Company on 28 November 

2000 (the “Old Scheme”) was terminated and another share option scheme (the “New Scheme”) was 

adopted. Upon termination of the Old Scheme, no further options can be granted thereunder but in all 

other respects, the provisions of the Old Scheme remain in force and all share options granted prior 

to such termination continue to be valid and exercisable in accordance therewith. As at 31 December 

2007, there were 51,702,500 share options outstanding under the New Scheme. Details of the New 

Scheme are as follows:

(a) Purpose

The Company operates the New Scheme for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to 

eligible participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s operations.
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(b) Eligible participants

Eligible participants of the New Scheme include the Company’s Directors, including the Non-

executive Directors and Independent Non-executive Directors, other employees of the Group, 

suppliers of goods or services to the Group, customers of the Group, any minority shareholders of 

the Company’s subsidiaries and any other person or entity determined by the Directors as having 

contributed or may contribute to the development and growth of the Group.

(c) Maximum number of issuable share options

The maximum number of unexercised share options currently permitted to be granted under the 

New Scheme is an amount equivalent, upon their exercise, to 10% of the shares of the Company in 

issue at any time. At 31 December 2007, the number of shares issuable pursuant to the grant of further 

options under the New Scheme was 109,271,262, which was governed by the latest 10% general limit 

refreshed and approved by the shareholders in a general meeting.

(d) Maximum entitlement of each eligible participant

The maximum number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the share options 

granted to each eligible participant under the New Scheme in any 12-month period is limited to 1% of 

the shares of the Company in issue. Any further grant of share options in excess of this limit is subject 

to shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.

Share options granted to a Director, Chief Executive or substantial shareholder of the Company, 

or to any of their associates, are subject to approval by the Independent Non-executive Directors of 

the Company. In addition, any share options granted to a substantial shareholder or an Independent 

Non-executive Director of the Company, or to any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares 

of the Company in issue at any time or with an aggregate value (based on the closing price of the 

Company’s shares at the date of the grant) in excess of HK$5 million, in any 12-month period, are 

subject to shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.

(e) Exercisable period

The exercisable period of the share options granted is determined by the Directors, and 

commences after a certain vesting period, if any, and ends on a date which is not later than 10 years 

from the date of the offer. The share options which are granted and remain unexercised immediately 

prior to the end of the expiry date of the New Scheme shall continue to be exercisable in accordance 

with their terms of grant, notwithstanding the expiry of the New Scheme.

(f) Payment on acceptance of option

The offer of a grant of share options shall deemed to be accepted when the acceptance letter 

is duly signed by the grantee and the nominal consideration for the grant of HK$1 is received by the 

Company within 28 days from the date of the offer.
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(g) Basis of determining the exercise price
The exercise price of the share option is determined by the Directors, but not less than the 

highest of (i) the closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in the daily quotations sheet of The 
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on the date of the offer of the grant, 
which must be a trading day; (ii) the average closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in the 
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet for the five trading days immediately preceding the date of the 
offer of the grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the Company’s shares.

(h) Remaining life of the scheme
The New Scheme became effective on 20 December 2001 and, unless otherwise cancelled or 

amended, will remain in force for 10 years from that date.

As at 31 December 2007, there was no outstanding share options which have been granted 
under the Old Scheme.

During the year, 180,000 share options were lapsed under the New Scheme.

Details of the share options outstanding as at 31 December 2007 which have been granted 
under the New Scheme are as follows:

 Number of share options Company’s share price(3)
  

     Granted Exercise Expired  At date At date
   Exercise 1 January during during during 31 December of of
Participant Date of grant  price 2007 the period the period the period 2007 grant exercise
   HK$      HK$ HK$

Executive Directors
Wong Ying Yin 20 June 2006 (2) 0.89 350,000 – (174,000) – 176,000 0.89 2.83
Bang Young-bae 20 June 2006 (2) 0.89 300,000 – (150,000) – 150,000 0.89 2.83
        

    650,000 – (324,000) – 326,000
        

Ex-Directors 
Mr. Yip Wai Leung, Jerry 7 June 2004 (1) 0.63 150,000 – – (150,000) – 0.63 N/A
Mr. Yip Wai Leung, Jerry 13 June 2005 (1) 0.80 200,000 – (200,000) – – 0.80 3.08
        

    350,000 – (200,000) (150,000) –
        

Suppliers of goods or services, 
 customers and others
 20 June 2006 (2) 0.89 60,500,000 – (30,250,000) – 30,250,000 0.89 2.00
        

    60,500,000 – (30,250,000) – 30,250,000
        

Other employees
In aggregate 7 June 2004 (1) 0.63 30,000 – – (30,000) – 0.63 N/A
 13 June 2005 (1) 0.80 840,000 – (560,000) – 280,000 0.80 2.12
 20 June 2006 (2) 0.89 40,787,000 – (19,940,500) – 20,846,500 0.89 2.04
        

    41,657,000 – (20,500,500) (30,000) 21,126,500
        

Share options granted 
 under the New Scheme    103,157,000 – (51,274,500) (180,000) 51,702,500
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Notes:

(1) The exercisable period of the above share options is 3 years from the date of the grant as 

determined by the Directors.

(2) The exercisable period of the above share options is 3 years from the date of the grant as 

determined by the Directors subject to the conditions that the maximum percentage of the total 

number of shares under Share Option that can be subscribed for pursuant to the exercise of the 

Share Option (including those Shares which have been allotted and issued to you under the Share 

Option) cannot exceed:

(a) 20% commencing from the date of option certificate and ending on the day immediately 

before the first anniversary of the date of option certificate;

(b) 50% commencing from the date of option certificate and ending on the day immediately 

before the second anniversary of the date of option certificate;

(c) 100% commencing from the date of option certificate and ending on the day immediately 

before the second anniversary of the date of option certificate.

(3) The price of the Company’s shares disclosed as at the date of the grant of the share options is the 

Stock Exchange’s closing price on the trading day immediately prior to the date of the grant of the 

options. The price of the Company’s shares disclosed as at the date of the exercise of the share 

options is the weighted average closing price of the shares immediately before the dates on which 

share options were exercised.

Summary of details of the Company’s share option schemes are also set out in note 34 to the 

accounts.

The fair value of share options granted is recognised in profit and loss account taking into 

account the probability that the options will vest over the vesting period. Upon the exercise of the 

options, the resulting shares issued are recorded by the Company as additional share capital at the 

nominal value of the shares, and the excess of the exercise price per share over the nominal value of 

the shares is recorded by the Company in the share premium account. Options which lapsed, if any, 

prior to their exercise date are deleted from the outstanding options.

Subsequent to the balance sheet date, there is no new share option granted by the Company.
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DIRECTORS
The Directors who held office during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Lau Jin Wei, Jim

Mr. Wong Ying Yin

Mr. Bang Young Bae

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Ou Ying Ji

Mr. Lin Jian

Mr. Lee Pak Chung

In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, Mr. Bang Young Bae and Ou Ying Ji 

will retire from office of Director by rotation and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the 

forthcoming annual general meeting.

The Directors of the Company are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual 

general meetings of the Company in accordance with the provisions of the Company’s Articles of 

Association. The Independent Non-executive Directors are not appointed for specific terms, but are 

subject to retirement by rotation in accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Brief biographical details of Directors and senior management are set out from page 11 to page 

14.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS
Each of the Executive Directors has entered into a service contract with the Company for a 

term of one year commencing from 1 January 2007 (the “Previous Contracts”). Upon the expiry of the 

Previous Contracts, each of the existing Executive Directors has renewed the service contract with the 

Company for a term of one year commencing from 1 January 2008 (the “New Contracts”). The New 

Contracts continue thereafter until terminated by either party giving not less than one month’s notice in 

writing to the other party.

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general 

meeting has a service contract with the Company which is not determinable within one year without 

payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS
No other contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company or 

its subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director of the Company had a material interest, whether 

directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
No significant connected transactions were entered into by the Group during the year ended 31 

December 2007, which constitute connected transactions under the Rules Governing the Listing of 

Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”).

Significant related party transactions entered into by the Group during the year ended 31 

December 2007, which do not constitute connected transactions under the Listing Rules, are disclosed 

in note 45 to the accounts.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS IN EQUITY OR DEBT SECURITIES 
OR WARRANTS

At 31 December 2007, the interests (which are all long positions) of the Directors and Chief 

Executives in the ordinary shares and underlying shares of the Company and its associated corporations 

(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”) (including interest 

which they are deemed or taken to have under such provisions of the SFO)), as recorded in the register 

required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company were as 

follows:

 Number of ordinary shares/underlying shares held
 

 Personal Corporate Family Percentage

Name of Director interests interests interests holding

Mr. Lau Jin Wei, Jim 3,940,000 – 88,459,200 7.81%

 (note (a))  (note (b))

Mr. Choi Woon Man 860,200 89,168,000 – 7.61%

 (note (c)) (note (d))

Mr. Wong Ying Yin 350,000 – – 0.03%

 (note (e))

Mr. Bang Young Bae 500,000 – – 0.04%

 (note (f))
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Notes:

(a) The personal interest of Mr. Lau Jin Wei, Jim comprises of 3,940,000 ordinary shares of the 

Company.

(b) There are 88,459,200 ordinary shares of the Company as shown above held by Motivated Workforce 

Consultants Limited (“MWC”), a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands. The entire share 

capital of MWC is owned by Mr. Lau Ru Dong, the father of Mr. Lau Jin Wei, Jim.

(c) The personal interest of Mr. Choi Woon Man comprises of 860,200 ordinary shares of the Company. 

Mr. Choi Woon Man resigned as Director of the Company on 30 September 2004.

(d) There are 89,168,000 ordinary shares of the Company as shown above held by Inviting Finance 

Limited (“IFL”), a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands. The entire share capital of IFL is 

owned by Mr. Choi Woon Man.

(e) The personal interest of Mr. Wong Ying Yin comprises of 174,000 ordinary shares and 176,000 

underlying shares in respect of share options granted by the company to him, the details of which are 

stated in the above section “Share options”.

(f) The personal interest of Mr. Bang Young Bae comprises of 350,000 ordinary shares and 

150,000 underlying shares in respect of share options granted by the company to him, the 

details of which are stated in the above section “Share options”.

 Number of 2008 Warrants granted
 

 Personal Corporate Family

Name of Director interests interests interests

Mr. Lau Jin Wei, Jim 540,000 – 6,020,000

 (note (a))  (note (b))

Mr. Choi Woon Man 46,920 7,200,000 –

 (note (c)) (note (d))
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Each of the 2007 Warrant entitles the holder thereof to subscribe for one ordinary share at 

subscription price of HK$0.9654 per share, payable in cash and subject to adjustment, at any time 

during the period from 8 July 2005 to 7 July 2007 (both dates inclusive). The 2007 Warrants were 

expired on 8 July 2007. Each of the 2008 Warrant entitles the holder thereof to subscribe for one 

ordinary share at subscription price of HK$1.3 per share, payable in cash and subject to adjustment, 

at any time during the period from 8 July 2005 to 7 July 2008 (both dates inclusive). Any shares falling 

to be issued upon the exercise of the subscription rights attaching to the 2007 Warrants and 2008 

Warrants rank pari passu in all respects with the existing fully— paid ordinary shares in issue on the 

relevant subscription date.

Notes:

(a) The personal interest of Mr. Lau Jin Wei, Jim comprises of 540,000 2008 Warrants of the Company.

(b) There are 6,020,000 2008 Warrants of the Company held by MWC, a company incorporated in the 

British Virgin Islands. The entire share capital of MWC is owned by Mr. Lau Ru Dong, the father of 

Mr. Lau Jin Wei, Jim.

(c) The personal interest of Mr. Choi Woon Man comprises of 46,920 2008 Warrants of the Company. 

Mr. Choi Woon Man resigned as Director of the Company on 30 September 2004.

(d) There are 7,200,000 2008 Warrants of the Company held by IFL, a company incorporated in the 

British Virgin Islands. The entire share capital of IFL is owned by Mr. Choi Woon Man.

Save as disclosed above, no directors, chief executives or their associates had any interest 

or short position in the shares or underlying shares of the Company or any of its associated 

corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be 

kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange 

of Hong Kong Limited pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed 

Companies.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS
At 31 December 2007, the register of substantial shareholders maintained under Section 336 

of the SFO showed that, the Company had been notified of the following substantial shareholders’ 

interests, being 5% or more of the Company’s issued share capital:

   Percentage of

 Number of Number of  the Company’s

Name of shareholder ordinary shares 2008 Warrants share capital

MWC 88,459,200 6,020,000 7.98%

IFL 89,168,000 7,200,000 8.14%

Bass J Kyle 71,700,000 – 6.06%

JPMorgan Chase & Co. 59,965,000 – 5.07%

All the interests disclosed above represent long positions in the shares of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, the Company has not been notified by any other person (other than 

a director of the Company disclosed above) who has an interest or short position in the shares or 

underlying shares of the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO as at 31 December 2007.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS
No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part 

of the business of the Company were entered into or existed during the year.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS
The percentages of purchases and sales for the year attributable to the Group’s major suppliers 

and customers are as follows:

Purchases

 – the largest supplier 9%

 – five largest suppliers combined 30%

Sales

 – the largest customer 8%

 – five largest customers combined 35%

None of the Directors, their associates or any shareholder (which to the knowledge of the 

Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had an interest in the major suppliers or 

customers noted above.
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COMPLIANCE OF CODE OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE OF LISTING RULES
Information on the Company’s compliance of the Code of Corporate Governance Practice (“CG 

Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules and deviations from certain code provisions of 

the CG Code for the year is set out in the Corporate Governance Report in this annual report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Company’s Audit Committee comprises three Independent Non-executive Directors, namely 

Mr. Ou Ying Ji, Mr. Lin Jian and Mr. Lee Pak Chung.

The written terms of reference which describe the authority and duties of the Audit Committee 

were prepared and adopted with reference to “A Guide for The Formation of An Audit Committee” 

published by the Hong Kong Society of Accountants. The principal activities of the Audit Committee 

include the review and supervision of the Group’s financial reporting process and internal controls.

The Audit Committee met twice during the year of 2007 in conjunction with the auditors to 

review the internal controls, interim results and final accounts of the Group prior to recommending them 

to the Board for approval.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS
None of the directors have an interest in any business constituting a competing business to the 

Group.

PENSION SCHEME ARRANGEMENTS
On 1 December 2000, the Group set up a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF 

Scheme”) in accordance with the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the 

Laws of Hong Kong). The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group and 

under control of an independent trustee.

Both the Group and its employees located in Hong Kong are required to contribute 5% of the 

employees’ monthly salaries. The mandatory contributions required to be made by the Group and 

an employee are capped at HK$1,000 per month. Members are entitled to 100% of the employers’ 

mandatory contributions as soon as they are paid to the relevant MPF Scheme but all benefits derived 

from the mandatory contributions must be preserved until the employee reaches the retirement age of 

65 or in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme.
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Pursuant to the relevant regulations of the government of the People’s Republic of China (the 

“PRC”), a subsidiary of the Company operates a local municipal government retirement benefits 

scheme (the “PRC Scheme”) for its employees located in the PRC. The subsidiary is required to make 

contributions to the PRC Scheme at rates specified by the local practice and regulations and the local 

municipal government undertakes to assume the retirement benefits obligations of all existing and 

future retired employees of the subsidiary. The only obligation of the Group is to make the ongoing 

required contributions to the PRC Scheme.

The Group’s retirement benefit costs are charged to the consolidated profit and loss account 

when incurred and the aggregate contributions paid or payable by the Group was approximately 

HK$552,000 for the year ended 31 December 2007 (2006: HK$702,000). There were no provisions 

under the Group’s retirement schemes whereby forfeited contributions may be used to reduce future 

contributions.

AUDITORS
The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2007 were audited by CCIF CPA 

Limited. A resolution will be submitted to the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company to 

re-appoint CCIF CPA Limited as auditors of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Lau Jin Wei, Jim

Chairman

Hong Kong, 10 March 2008
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

GLOBAL GREEN TECH GROUP LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Global Green Tech Group Limited 

(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 36 to 

117, which comprise the consolidated and company balance sheets as at 31 December 2007, and the 

consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated 

cash flow statement for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and 

other explanatory notes.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and the true and fair 

presentation of these financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards 

issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements 

of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. This responsibility includes designing, implementing and 

maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and the true and fair presentation of financial 

statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and 

applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the 

circumstances.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. This 

report is made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility 

towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the 

Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with 

ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance as to whether the 

financial statements are free from material misstatement.
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 

disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, 

including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether 

due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant 

to the entity’s preparation and true and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design 

audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 

an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the 

appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by 

the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 

basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of 

affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 31 December 2007 and of the Group’s profit and cash 

flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have 

been properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies 

Ordinance.

CCIF CPA Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 10 March 2008

Chan Wai Dune, Charles

Practising Certificate Number P00712
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  2007 2006

 Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Turnover 5, 14 1,071,833 846,916 

Cost of sales  (526,571) (475,154) 
   

Gross profit  545,262 371,762

 

Valuation gain on investment properties 17 3,013 –

Other revenue and net income 6 107,461 83,669

Selling and distribution expenses  (83,782) (50,890)

General and administrative expenses  (138,996) (89,411)
   

 

Profit from operations  432,958 315,130

Finance costs 7(a) (14,377) (13,770)
   

Profit before taxation 7 418,581 301,360

Income tax 8 (60,122) (30,219)
   

Profit for the year  358,459 271,141
   

Attributable to: 

 Equity shareholders of the Company 39(a) 311,772 197,039

 Minority interests  46,687 74,102
   

Profit for the year  358,459 271,141
   

Dividends 12(a) – 31,397
   

Earnings per share 

 Basic 13(a) HK$0.2785 HK$0.1972
   

 Diluted 13(b) HK$0.2571 HK$0.1962
   

The notes on pages 43 to 117 form part of these financial statements.
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  2007 2006
 Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current assets
 Goodwill 15 459,428 –
 Property, plant and equipment 16 1,085,699 940,350
 Investment properties 17 23,500 19,240
 Prepaid lease payments for land
  under operating leases 18 172,964 128,255

 Intangible assets 19 27,563 32,791
 Deposits for acquisition of property, plant
  and equipment 20 173,737 207,110
 Deposits for acquisition of interests in leasehold
  land held for own use under operating leases 21 – 39,015
 Deposits for acquisition of intangible assets 22 14,070 13,272
 Other deposits and club debenture 23 170 170
 Deferred tax assets 36 – 7,355
   

  1,957,131 1,387,558 
Current assets 
 Prepaid lease payments for land under
  operating leases 18 2,966 2,951
 Trading securities 25 198,786 176,276
 Inventories 26 51,217 33,200
 Trade and other receivables 27 166,762 129,369
 Loan receivables 28 185,437 23,000
 Fixed bank deposits 29 42,733 – 
 Cash and cash equivalents 30 472,989 405,181

  1,120,890 769,977

Current liabilities
 Trade and other payables 31 (163,572) (183,989)
 Current portion of long-term bank loans 32 (60,000) (60,000)
 Current portion of obligations under finance
  leases 33 (39) (39)
 Tax payable 35 (44,885) (31,143)

  (268,496) (275,171)
   

Net current assets  852,394 494,806
   

Total assets less current liabilities  2,809,525 1,882,364
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The notes on pages 43 to 117 form part of these financial statements.

  2007 2006

 Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current liabilities

 Long-term bank loans 32 (180,000) (140,000)

 Obligations under finance leases 33 (34) (73)

 Deferred tax liabilities 36 (826) (430)

 Convertible preference shares 37 (134,191) –
   

  (315,051) (140,503)
   

NET ASSETS  2,494,474 1,741,861
   

CAPITAL AND RESERVES 

 Share capital 38(a) 118,334 104,658 

 Reserves 39(a) 2,255,459 1,629,249 
   

Total equity attributable to equity

 shareholders of the Company  2,373,793 1,733,907 

Minority interests  120,681 7,954 
   

TOTAL EQUITY  2,494,474 1,741,861 
   

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 10 March 2008.

Director Director
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  2007 2006

 Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current assets

 Investments in subsidiaries 24 315,327 89,412

Current assets

 Amounts due from subsidiaries 24(a) 1,469,561 1,170,015

 Trade and other receivables 27 160 142

 Cash and cash equivalents 30 8,245 5,574

  1,477,966 1,175,731

Current liabilities

 Amounts due to subsidiaries 24(a) (408,123) (36,055)

 Trade and other payables 31 (2,226) (2,370)

 Current portion of long-term bank loans 32 (60,000) (60,000)

  (470,349) (98,425)
   

Net current assets  1,007,617 1,077,306
   

Total assets less current liabilities  1,322,944 1,166,718

Non-current liabilities

 Long-term bank loans 32 (180,000) (140,000)
   

NET ASSETS  1,142,944 1,026,718
   

CAPITAL AND RESERVES

 Share capital 38(a) 118,334 104,658

 Reserves 39(b) 1,024,610 922,060
   

TOTAL EQUITY  1,142,944 1,026,718
   

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 10 March 2008.

Director Director

The notes on pages 43 to 117 form part of these financial statements.
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 Attributable to equity holders of the Company
 

        Convertible
     Share-based  Exchange preference
  Share Share Capital compensation Statutory fluctuation  share Retained  Minority Total
  capital premium reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  profits Total interests equity
 Note HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2006  93,519 690,904 900 17,086 18,694 3,964 – 614,385 1,439,452 33,852 1,473,304

Exercise of warrants 38(b) 692 5,989 – – – – – – 6,681 – 6,681

Exercise of share options 38(c) 10,447 87,984 – (16,896) – – – – 81,535 – 81,535

Equity settled share–based  

 payments transactions  – – – 11,135 – – – – 11,135 – 11,135

Dividend paid to a minority 

 shareholder  – – – – – – – – – (100,000) (100,000)

2005 final dividend paid 12(b) – – – – – – – (20,396) (20,396) – (20,396)

Exchange difference on translation 

 of financial statements of 

 overseas subsidiaries  – – – – – 18,461 – – 18,461 – 18,461

Profit for the year  – – – – – – – 197,039 197,039 74,102 271,141
            

At 31 December 2006 and 

 1 January 2007  104,658 784,877 900 11,325 18,694 22,425 – 791,028 1,733,907 7,954 1,741,861

Exercise of warrants 38(b) 8,549 74,930 – – – – – – 83,479 – 83,479

Exercise of share options 38(c) 5,127 52,078 – (11,640) – – – – 45,565 – 45,565

Transfer to statutory reserve  – – – – 70,111 – – (70,111) – – –

Equity settled share-based  

 payments transactions  – – – 9,239 – – – – 9,239 – 9,239

2006 final dividend paid 12(b) – – – – – – – (32,772) (32,772) – (32,772)

Exchange difference on translation 

 of financial statements of 

 overseas subsidiaries  – – – – – 30,709 – – 30,709 – 30,709

Arising from acquisition of   

 additional interest in a subsidiary  – – 165,259 – – – – – 165,259 66,040 231,299

Issue of convertible preference

 shares of a subsidiary  – – – – – – 26,635 – 26,635 – 26,635

Profit for the year  – – – – – – – 311,772 311,772 46,687 358,459
            

At 31 December 2007  118,334 911,885 166,159 8,924 88,805 53,134 26,635 999,917 2,373,793 120,681 2,494,474
            

The notes on pages 43 to 117 form part of these financial statements.
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  2007 2006
 Note HK$’000 HK$’000
Operating activities
 Profit before taxation  418,581 301,360

 Adjustments for:
  Valuation gain of investment properties  (3,013) –
  Depreciation  76,135 50,879
  Amortisation
   – Prepaid lease payments for land 
     under operating leases  2,851 2,790
   – Intangible assets  6,989 9,459
  Interest income  (13,066) (8,283)
  Loss/(gain) on disposal of property, plant and
   equipment  1,534 (491)
  Net unrealised gain on trading securities  (27,342) (32,545)
  Write off of inventories  – 35,543
  Write back of impairment on inventories  (2,656) (399)
  Impairment loss on trade and other receivables  8,895 –
  Write off of bad debts  2,078 115
  Write back of impairment loss on trade receivables  (6,243) –
  Equity settled share-based payments expenses  9,239 11,135
  Other borrowing costs  558 3,606
  Interest element of finance lease rental  4 4
  Interest expense on bank advances and other
   borrowings  13,815 10,160
   

Operating cash flows before changes in working capital  488,359 383,333
 Decrease/(increase) in trading securities  4,832 (85,458)
 Increase in inventories  (15,361) (34,357)
 (Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables  (34,409) 29,381
 (Increase)/decrease in loan receivables  (162,437) 10,000
 (Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables  (20,417) 101,274
   

Cash generated from operations  260,567 404,173

Tax paid
 Hong Kong profits tax paid  (1,118) (714)
 Overseas income tax paid  (39,443) (21,771)
   

Net cash generated from operating activities  220,006 381,688
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  2007 2006
 Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Investing activities
 Acquisition of additional interest in a subsidiary  (241,090) –
 Purchases of property, plant and equipment  (113,828) (385,133)
 Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and
  equipment  242 540
 Deposits paid for acquisition of property, plant and
  equipment  (11,237) (44,611)
 Deposits paid for acquisition of interests in 
  leasehold land for own use under operating leases  – (39,015)
 Interest received  5,352 7,960
 Increase in fixed bank deposits  (42,733) –

Net cash used in investing activities  (403,294) (460,259)

Financing activities
 Proceeds from issue of convertible preference shares
  of a subsidiary  160,826 –
 New borrowings raised from long-term bank loans  100,000 200,000
 Repayment of long-term bank loans  (60,000) (179,065)
 Proceeds from exercise of warrants  83,479 6,681
 Proceeds from exercise share options  45,565 81,535
 Capital element of finance lease rentals paid  (39) (25)
 Interest element of finance lease rentals paid  (4) (4)
 Interest paid on bank advances and other borrowings  (13,815) (10,160)
 Other borrowing costs paid  (558) (3,606)
 Dividend paid to equity shareholders of the Company  (32,772) (20,396)
 Dividend paid to a minority shareholder  – (100,000)

Net cash generated from/(used in) financing activities  282,682 (25,040)
   

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  99,394 (103,611)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  405,181 514,066

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes  (31,586) (5,274)
   

Cash and cash equivalents at the ended of the year 30 472,989 405,181
   

The notes on pages 43 to 117 form part of these financial statements.
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1. GENERAL INFORMATION
Global Green Tech Group Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated as an exempted company 

with limited liability in the Cayman Islands on 25 September 2000 under the Companies Act, Cap 

22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands. The Company is listed 

on Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “SEHK”). The registered office 

and principal place of business of the Company are disclosed in the “Corporate Information” 

section to the annual report.

The principal activities of the Company are investment holding and its subsidiaries are principally 

engaged in manufacturing and sale of household products, industrial products, cosmetics 

and skincare products and bio-technology products with medical and cosmetics applications, 

provision of loan financing services and investment and/or trading in market securities, bonds, 

foreign currencies, various funds and other income generated fixed assets’ portfolios.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong Dollars “HK$”, which is the 

functional currency of the Company.

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
a) Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong 

Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which collective term includes all 

applicable individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting 

Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified 

Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong 

and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. These financial 

statements also comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing 

the Listing of Securities on the SEHK. A summary of the significant accounting policies 

adopted by the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to the “Group”) is set 

out below.

The HKICPA has issued certain of new and revised HKFRSs that are first effective or 

available for early adoption for current accounting period of the Group and the Company. 

Note 3 provides information on the changes in accounting policies resulting from initial 

application of these developments to the extent they are relevant to the Group for the 

current and prior accounting periods reflect in these financial statements.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)
b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2007 comprise the 

Company and its subsidiaries.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial statements is the historical 

cost basis except the following assets and liabilities are stated at their fair value as 

explained in the accounting policies set out below:

– Investment properties (see note 2(f);

– Financial instruments classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

(see note 2(e)); and

– Convertible preference shares (see note 2(n)).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity to HKFRSs requires management 

to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies 

and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and 

associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that 

are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis 

of making the judgements about carrying value of assets and liabilities that re not readily 

apparent from other resources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to 

accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the 

revision affects only that period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects 

both current and future periods.

Judgement made by management in the application of HKFRSs that have significant effect 

on the financial statements and estimates with a significant risk of material adjustment in 

the next year are discussed in note 4.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)
c) Subsidiaries and minority interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Control exists when the Group has 

the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain 

benefits from its activities. In assessing control, potential voting rights that presently are 

exercisable are taken into account.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the consolidated financial statements 

from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases.

Intra-group balances and transactions and any unrealised profits arising from intra-group 

transactions are eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated financial statements. 

Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated in the same way 

as unrealised gains but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

Minority interests represent the portion of the net assets of subsidiaries attributable 

to interests that are not owned by the Company, whether directly or indirectly through 

subsidiaries, and in respect of which the Group has not agreed any additional terms 

with the holders of those interests which would result in the Group as a whole having a 

contractual obligation in respect of those interest that meets the definition of a financial 

liability. Minority interests are presented in the consolidated balance sheet within equity, 

separately from equity attributable to the equity shareholders of the Company. Minority 

interests in the results of the Group are presented on the face of the consolidated income 

statement as an allocation of the total profit or loss for the year between minority interests 

and the equity shareholders of the Company.

Where losses applicable to the minority exceed the minority’s interest in the equity of 

a subsidiary, the excess, and any further losses applicable to the minority, are charged 

against the Group’s interest except to the extent that the minority has a binding obligation 

to, and is able to, make additional investment to cover the losses. If the subsidiary 

subsequently reports profits, the Group’s interest is allocated all such profits until the 

minority’s share of losses previously absorbed by the Group has been recovered.

In the Company’s balance sheet, investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less 

impairment losses (see note 2(j)).
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)
d) Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of a business combination over the Group’s 

interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent 

liabilities.

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is allocated to 

cash-generating units and is tested annually for impairment (see note 2(j)).

Any excess of the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable 

assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the cost of a business combination is 

recognised immediately in the income statement.

On disposal of a cash generating unit, any attributable amount of purchased goodwill is 

included in the calculation of the profit or loss on disposal.

e) Other investments in debt and equity securities

The Group’s and the Company’s policies for investments in debt and equity securities, 

other than investments in subsidiaries, associates and jointly controlled entities, are as 

follows:

Investments in debt and equity securities are initially stated at cost, which is their 

transaction price unless fair value can be more reliably estimated using valuation 

techniques whose variables include only data from observable markets. Cost includes 

attributable transaction costs, except where indicated otherwise below. These investments 

are subsequently accounted for as follows, depending on their classification.

Investments in securities held for trading are classified as current assets and are initially 

stated at fair value. At each balance sheet date the fair value is remeasured, with any 

resultant gain or loss being recognised in the income statement.

Dated debt securities that the Group and/or the Company have the positive ability and 

intention to hold to maturity are classified as held-to-maturity securities. Held-to-maturity 

securities are stated in the balance sheet at amortised cost less impairment losses (see 

note 2(j)).
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)
e) Other investments in debt and equity securities (cont’d)

Investments in equity securities that do not have a quoted market price in an active market 

and whose fair value cannot be reliably measured are recognised in the balance sheet at 

cost less impairment losses (see note 2(j)).

Investments in securities which do not fall into any of the above categories are classified 

as available-for-sale securities and are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction 

costs. At each balance sheet date the fair value is remeasured, with any resultant gain or 

loss being recognised directly in equity, except for impairment losses (see note 2(j)) and, 

in the case of monetary items such as debt securities, foreign exchange gains and losses 

which are recognised directly in the income statement. Where these investments are 

interest-bearing, interest calculated using the effective interest method is recognised in 

the income statement. When these investments are derecognised, the cumulative gain or 

loss previously recognised directly in equity is recognised in the income statement.

Investments are recognised/derecognised on the date the Group and/or the Company 

commits to purchase/sell the investments or they expire.

f) Investment properties

Investment properties are land and/or buildings which are owned or held under a leasehold 

interest (see note 2(h)) to earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation. These include 

land held for a currently undetermined future use.

Investment properties are stated in the balance sheet at fair value. Any gain or loss arising 

from change in fair value or from the retirement or disposal of investment properties 

are recognised in the income statement. Rental income from investment properties is 

accounted for as described in note 2(t)(ii).

When the Group holds a property interest under an operating lease to earn rental 

income and/or for capital appreciation, the interest is classified and accounted for as an 

investment property on a property-by-property basis. Any such property interest which 

has been classified as an investment properties are accounted for as if it were held under 

a finance lease (see note 2(h)), and the same accounting policies are applied to that 

interest as are applied to other investment properties leased under finance leases. Lease 

payments are accounted for as described in note 2(h).
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)
f) Investment properties (cont’d)

Property that is being constructed or developed for future use as investment property 

is classified as property, plant and equipment and stated at cost until construction or 

development is complete, at which time it is reclassified as investment properties at fair 

value. Any difference between the fair value of the property at that date and its previous 

carrying amount is recognised in the income statement.

g) Property, plant and equipment

The following items of property, plant and equipment are stated in the balance sheet at 

cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (see note 2(j)):

– buildings held for own use which are situated on leasehold land, where the fair value 

of the building could be measured separately from the fair value of the leasehold 

land at the inception of the lease (see note 2(h)); and

– other items of plant and equipment.

The cost of self-constructed items of property, plant and equipment includes the cost of 

materials, direct labour, the initial estimate, where relevant, of the costs of dismantling and 

removing the items and restoring the site on which they are located, and an appropriate 

proportion of production overheads and borrowing costs (see note 2(v)).

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an item of property, plant and 

equipment are determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the 

carrying amount of the item and are recognised in the income statement on the date of 

retirement or disposal. Any related revaluation surplus is transferred from the revaluation 

reserve to retained profits.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost or valuation of items of property, plant and 

equipment, less their estimated residual value, if any, using the straight line method over 

their estimated useful lives as follows:

– Buildings held for own use over 50 years and the unexpired term of

   the relevant lease whichever is shorter

– Plant and machinery 10 years

– Leasehold improvements 20 years

– Furniture, fixtures and equipment 3.33 – 5 years

– Motor vehicles 5 years



ANNUAL REPORT 2007

Global Green Tech Group Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2007

49

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)
g) Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)

Where parts of an item of property, plant equipment have different useful lives, the cost or 

valuation of the item is allocated on a reasonable basis between the parts and each part 

is depreciated separately. Both the useful life of an asset and its residual value, if any, are 

reviewed annually.

h) Leased assets

An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a series of transactions, is or contains a 

lease if the Group determines that the arrangement conveys a right to use a specific asset 

or assets for an agreed period of time in return for a payment or a series of payments. 

Such a determination is made based on an evaluation of the substance of the arrangement 

and is regardless of whether the arrangement takes the legal form of a lease.

i) Classification of assets leased to the Group

Assets that are held by the Group under leases which transfer to the Group 

substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as being held 

under finance leases. Leases which do not transfer substantially all the risks and 

rewards of ownership to the Group are classified as operating leases, with the 

following exceptions:

– property held under operating leases that would otherwise meet the definition 

of an investment property is classified as an investment property on a 

property-by-property basis and, if classified as an investment property, is 

accounted for as if held under a finance lease (see note 2(f)); and

– land held for own use under an operating lease, the fair value of which cannot 

be measured separately from the fair value of a building situated thereon at 

the inception of the lease, is accounted for as being held under a finance 

lease, unless the building is also clearly held under an operating lease. For 

these purposes, the inception of the lease is the time that the lease was first 

entered into by the Group, or taken over from the previous lessee, or at the 

date construction those buildings, if later.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)
h) Leased assets (cont’d)

ii) Assets acquired under finance leases

Where the Group acquires the use of assets under finance leases, the amounts 

representing the fair value of the leased asset, or, if lower, the present value of 

the minimum lease payments, of such assets are included in property, plant and 

equipment and the corresponding liabilities, net of finance charges, are recorded as 

obligations under finance leases. Depreciation is provided at rates which write off 

the cost or valuation of the assets over the term of the relevant lease or, where it is 

likely the Group will obtain ownership of the asset, the life of the asset, as set out 

in note 2(g). Impairment losses are accounted for in accordance with the accounting 

policy as set out in note 2(j). Finance charges implicit in the lease payments are 

charged to the income statement over the period of the leases so as to produce 

an approximately constant periodic rate of charge on the remaining balance of the 

obligations for each accounting period. Contingent rentals are charge to the income 

statement in the accounting period in which they are incurred.

iii) Operating lease charges

Where the Group has the use of assets held under operating leases, payments 

made under the leases are charged to the income statement in equal instalments 

over the accounting periods covered by the lease term, except where an alternative 

basis is more representative of the pattern of benefits to be derived from the 

leased asset. Lease incentives received are recognised in the income statement 

as an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments made. Contingent rentals 

are charged to the income statement in the accounting period in which they are 

incurred.

The cost of acquiring land held under an operating lease is amortised on a straight-

line basis over the period of the lease term except where the property is classified 

as investment property (see note 2(f)).
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)
i) Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the period in which it 

is incurred. Expenditure on development activities is capitalised if the product or process 

is technically and commercially feasible and the Group has sufficient resources and the 

intention to complete development. The expenditure capitalised includes the costs of 

materials, direct labour; and an appropriate proportion of overheads and borrowing costs, 

where applicable (see note 2(v)). Capitalised development costs are stated at cost less 

accumulated amortisation and impairment losses (see note 2(j)). Other development 

expenditure is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.

Other intangible assets that are acquired by the Group are stated in the balance sheet 

at cost less accumulated amortisation (where the estimated useful life is finite) and 

impairment losses (see note 2(j)). Expenditure on internally generated goodwill and brands 

is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.

Amortisation of intangible assets with finite useful lives is charged to the income statement 

on a straight-line basis over the assets’ estimated useful lives. The following intangible 

assets with finite useful lives are amortised from the date they are available for use and 

their estimated useful lives are as follows:

– licenses 5 to 10 years

Both the period and method of amortisation are reviewed annually.

Intangible assets are not amortised while their useful lives are assessed to be indefinite. 

Any conclusion that the useful life of an intangible asset is indefinite is reviewed annually 

to determine whether events and circumstances continue to support the indefinite useful 

life assessment for that asset. If they do not, the change in the useful life assessment 

from indefinite to finite is accounted for prospectively from the date of change and in 

accordance with the policy for amortisation of intangible assets with finite lives as set out 

above.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)
j) Impairment of assets

i) Impairment of investments in debt and equity securities and other receivables

Investments in debt and equity securities and other current and non-current 

receivables that are stated at cost or amortised cost or are classified as available-

for-sale securities are reviewed at each balance sheet date to determine whether 

there is objective evidence of impairment. Objective evidence of impairment includes 

observable date that comes to the attention of the Group about one or more of the 

following loss events:

– significant financial difficulty of the debtors;

– a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal 

payments;

– becoming probable that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or other financial 

reorganisation;

– signif icant changes in the technological, market, economic or legal 

environment that have an adverse effect on the debtor; and

– a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of an investment in an 

equity instrument below its cost.

If any such evidence exists, any impairment loss is determined and recognised as 

follows:

– For unquoted equity securities and current receivables that are carried at 

cost, the impairment loss is measured as the difference between the carrying 

amount of the financial asset and the estimated future cash flows, discounted 

at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset where the 

effect of discounting is material. Impairment losses for equity securities are 

not reversed.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)
j) Impairment of assets (cont’d)

i) Impairment of investments in debt and equity securities and other receivables (cont’d)

– For trade and other current receivables and other financial assets carried at 

amortised cost, the impairment loss is measured as the difference between 

the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash 

flows, discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e. 

the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition of these assets).

– If in a subsequent period the amount of an impairment loss decreases and the 

decrease can be linked objectively to an event occurring after the impairment 

loss was recognised, the impairment loss is reversed through the income 

statement. A reversal of an impairment loss shall not result in the asset’s 

carrying amount exceeding that which would have been determined had no 

impairment loss been recognised in prior years.

– For available-for-sale securities, the cumulative loss that had been recognised 

directly in equity is removed from equity and is recognised in the income 

statement. The amount of the cumulative loss that is recognised in the 

income statement is the difference between the acquisition cost (net of 

any principal repayment and amortisation) and current fair value, less any 

impairment loss on that asset previously recognised in the income statement.

Impairment losses recognised in the income statement in respect of available-

for-sale equity securities are not reversed through the income statement. Any 

subsequent increase in the fair value of such assets is recognised directly in 

equity.

Impairment losses in respect of available-for-sale debt securities are reversed 

if the subsequent increase in fair value can be objectively related to an event 

occurring after the impairment loss was recognised. Reversals of impairment 

losses in such circumstances are recognised in the income statement.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)
j) Impairment of assets (cont’d)

i) Impairment of investments in debt and equity securities and other receivables (cont’d)

Impairment losses are written off against the corresponding assets directly, 

except for impairment losses recognised in respect of trade debtors and bills 

receivable included within trade and other receivables, whose recovery is 

considered doubtful but not remote. In this case, the impairment losses for 

doubtful debts are recorded using an allowance account. When the Group 

is satisfied that recovery is remote, the amount considered irrecoverable is 

written off against trade debtors and bills receivable directly and any amounts 

held in the allowance account relating to that debt are reversed. Subsequent 

recoveries of amounts previously charged to the allowance account are 

reversed against the allowance account. Other changes in the allowance 

account and subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off directly 

are recognised in the income statement.

ii) Impairment of other assets

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed at each balance sheet 

date to identify indications that the following assets may be impaired or, except in 

the case of goodwill, an impairment loss previously recognised no longer exists or 

may have decreased:

– property, plant and equipment (other than properties carried at revalued 

amounts);

– investment properties;

– prepaid lease payments for land under operating leases;

– intangible assets;

– investments in subsidiaries; and

– goodwill.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. In 

additions, for goodwill, intangible assets that are not yet available for use and 

intangible assets that have indefinite useful lives, the recoverable amount is 

estimated annually whether or not there is any indication of impairment.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)
j) Impairment of assets (cont’d)

ii) Impairment of other assets (cont’d)

– Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its net selling price 

and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash 

flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate 

that reflects current market assessments of time value of money and the 

risks specific to the asset. Where an asset does not generate cash inflows 

largely independent of those from other assets, the recoverable amount is 

determined for the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows 

independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit).

– Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in the income statement whenever the 

carrying amount of an asset, or the cash-generating unit to which it belongs, 

exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses recognised in respect of 

cash-generating units are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any 

goodwill allocated to the cash-generating unit (or group of units) and then, 

to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the unit (or group of 

units) on a pro rata basis, except that the carrying value of an asset will not 

be reduced below its individual fair value less costs to sell, or value in use, if 

determinable.

– Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an impairment loss is reversed 

if there has been a favourable change in the estimates used to determine 

the recoverable amount. An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not 

reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to the asset’s carrying amount that 

would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised in prior 

years. Reversals of impairment losses are credited to the income statement 

in the year in which the reversals are recognised.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)
k) Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost formula and comprises all costs of 

purchase, costs of conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their 

present location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less 

the estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those inventories is recognised as an 

expense in the period in which the related revenue is recognised. The amount of any write-

down of inventories to net realisable value and all losses of inventories are recognised 

as an expense in the period the write-down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of 

any write-down of inventories is recognised as a reduction in the amount of inventories 

recognised as an expense in the period in which the reversal occurs.

l) Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are initially recognised at fair value and thereafter stated at 

amortised cost less allowance for impairment of doubtful debts (see note 2(j)), except 

where the receivables are interest-free loans made to related parties without any fixed 

repayment terms or the effect of discounting would be immaterial. In such cases, the 

receivables are stated at cost less allowance for impairment of doubtful debts (see note 

2(j)).

m) Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair value less attributable transaction 

costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at 

amortised cost with any difference between the amount initially recognised and redemption 

value being recognised in the income statement over the period of the borrowings, 

together with any interest and fees payable, using the effective interest method.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)
n) Convertible preference shares

Convertible preference shares issued by the Company that contain liability, conversion 

option and redemption option (which is not closely related to the host liability component) 

are classified separately into respective items on initial recognition. Conversion option 

that will be settled by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial asset 

for a fixed number of the Company’s own equity instruments is classified as an equity 

instrument. At the date of issue, both the liability and redemption option components are 

measured at fair value. The difference between the gross proceeds of the issue of the 

convertible loan notes and the fair values assigned to the liability and redemption option 

components, representing the conversion option for the holder to convert the convertible 

preference share into equity, is included in equity (convertible preference share reserve).

In subsequent periods, the liability component of the convertible loan notes is carried at 

amortised cost using the effective interest method. The redemption option is measured at 

fair value with changes in fair value recognised in the income statement.

The equity component, representing the option to convert the liability component into 

ordinary shares of the Company, will remain in convertible preference share reserve 

until the embedded conversion option is exercised (in which case the balance stated in 

convertible preference share reserve will be transferred to share premium). Where the 

conversion option remains unexercised at the expiry date, the balance stated in convertible 

preference share reserve will be released to the retained profits. No gain or loss is 

recognised in the income statement upon conversion or expiration of the conversion 

option.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the convertible preference share are allocated 

to the liability, equity and redemption option components in proportion to the allocation 

of the gross proceeds. Transaction costs relating to the equity component are charged 

directly to equity. Transaction costs relating to the redemption option are charged to the 

income statement immediately. Transaction costs relating to the liability component are 

included in the carrying amount of the liability portion and amortised over the period of the 

convertible preference share using the effective interest method.

o) Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value and are subsequently stated 

at amortised cost unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they 

are stated at cost.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)
p) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand, demand deposits with 

banks and other financial institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments that are 

readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant 

risk of changes in value, having been within three months of maturity at acquisition. Bank 

overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash 

management are also included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for the 

purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement.

q) Employee benefits

i) Short term employee benefits and contributions to defined contribution retirement 

plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions to defined contribution 

retirement plans and the cost of non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year 

in which the associated services are rendered by employees. Where payment or 

settlement is deferred and the effect would be material, these amounts are stated 

at their present values.

ii) Share based payments

The fair value of share options granted to employees is recognised as an employee 

cost with a corresponding increase in a capital reserve within equity. The fair value 

is measured at grant date using the binomial lattice model, taking into account the 

terms and conditions upon which the options were granted. Where the employees 

have to meet vesting conditions before becoming unconditionally entitled to the 

share options, the total estimated fair value of the share options is spread over the 

vesting period, taking into account the probability that the options will vest.

During the vesting period, the number of share options that is expected to vest is 

reviewed. Any adjustment to the cumulative fair value recognised in prior years is 

charged/credited to the income statement for the year of the review, unless the 

original employee expenses qualify for recognition as an asset, with a corresponding 

adjustment to the capital reserve. On vesting date, the amount recognised as 

an expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number of options that vest (with a 

corresponding adjustment to the capital reserve) except where forfeiture is only due 

to not achieving vesting conditions that relate to the market price of the Company’s 

shares. The equity amount is recognised in the capital reserve until either the option 

is exercised (when it is transferred to the share premium account) or the option 

expires (when it is released directly to retained profits).
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)
q) Employee benefits (cont’d)

iii) Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised when, and only when, the Group demonstrably 
commits itself to terminate employment or to provide benefits as a result of 
voluntary redundancy by having a detailed formal plan which is without realistic 
possibility of withdrawal.

r) Income tax
Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements in deferred tax assets and 
liabilities. Current tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised 
in the income statement except to the extent that they relate to items recognised directly 
in equity, in which case they are recognised in equity.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates 
enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax 
payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and taxable temporary differences 
respectively, being the differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
for financial reporting purposes and their tax bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from 
unused tax losses and unused tax credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax liabilities, and all deferred tax 
assets to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against 
which the asset can be utilised, are recognised. Future taxable profits that may support 
the recognition of deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences, 
provided those differences relate to the same taxation authority and the same taxable 
entity, and are expected to reverse either in the same period as the expected reversal of 
the deductible temporary difference or in periods into which a tax loss arising from the 
deferred tax asset can be carried bank or forward. The same criteria are adopted when 
determining whether existing taxable temporary differences support the recognition of 
deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and credits, that is, those differences 
are taken into account if they relate to the same taxation authority and the same taxable 
entity, and are expected to reverse either in the same period as the expected reversal of 
the deductible temporary difference or in periods into which a tax loss arising from the 
deferred tax asset can be carried back or forward. The same criteria are adopted when 
determining whether existing taxable temporary differences support the recognition of 
deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and credits, that is, those differences 
are taken into account if they relate to the same taxation authority and the same taxable 
entity, and are expected to reverse in a period, or periods, in which the tax loss or credit 
can be utilised.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)
r) Income tax (cont’d)

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities are those 

temporary differences arising from goodwill not deductible for tax purposes, the initial 

recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit (provided 

they are not part of a business combination), and temporary differences relating to 

investments in subsidiaries to the extent that, in the case of taxable differences, the Group 

controls the timing of the reversal and it is probable that the differences will not reverse in 

the foreseeable future, or in the case of deductible differences, unless it is probable that 

they will reverse in the future.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based on the expected manner of 

realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax 

rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. Deferred tax assets and 

liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at each balance sheet date and 

is reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be 

available to allow the related tax benefit to be utilised. Any such reduction is reversed to 

the extent that it becomes probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and movements therein, are presented 

separately from each other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset against 

current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities, if the 

Company or the Group has the legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets 

against current tax liabilities and the following additional conditions are met:

– in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the Company or the Group intends 

either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability 

simultaneously; or

– in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they relate to income taxes levied 

by the same taxation authority on either:

– the same taxable entity; or

– different taxable entities, which, in each future period in which significant 

amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or 

recovered, intend to realise the current tax assets and settle the current tax 

liabilities on a net basis or realise and settle simultaneously.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)
s) Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or amount when the Group or 

the Company has a legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is 

probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and 

a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value of money is material, provisions are 

stated at the present value of the expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the 

amount cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, 

unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, 

whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or 

more future events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of 

outflow of economic benefits is remote.

t) Revenue recognition

Provided it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue 

and costs, if applicable, can be measured reliably, revenue is recognised in the income 

statement as follows:

i) Sales of goods

Revenue is recognised when goods are delivered at the customers’ premises which 

is taken to be the point in time when the customer has accepted the goods and the 

related risks and rewards of ownership. Revenue excludes value added tax or other 

sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade discounts.

ii) Rental income from operating leases

Rental income receivable under operating leases is recognised in the income 

statement in equal instalments over the periods covered by the lease term, except 

where an alternative basis is more representative of the pattern of benefits to be 

derived from the use of the lease asset. Lease incentives granted are recognised 

in the income statement as an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments 

receivable. Contingent rentals are recognised as income in the accounting period in 

which they are earned.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)
t) Revenue recognition (cont’d)

iii) Dividends

Dividend income from unlisted investments is recognised when the shareholder’s 

right to receive payment is established.

Dividend income from listed investments is recognised when the share price of the 

investment goes ex-dividend.

iv) Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective interest method.

v) Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the balance sheet initially as deferred income 

when there is reasonable assurance that they will be received and that the Group 

will comply with the conditions attaching to them. Grants that compensate that 

Group for expenses incurred are recognised as revenue in profit or loss on a 

systematic basis in the same periods in which the expenses are incurred. Grants 

that compensate the Group for the cost of assets are recognised in profit or loss as 

revenue on a systematic basis over the useful life of the asset.

vi) Royalty income

Royalty income is recognised on monthly basis in accordance with the terms and 

condition of the royalty agreement.

u) Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated at the foreign exchange rates 

ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 

currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date. 

Exchange gains and losses are recognised in the income statement.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a 

foreign currency are translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction 

dates. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are 

stated at fair value are translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the 

fair value was determined.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)
u) Translation of foreign currencies (cont’d)

The results of foreign operations are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange 

rates approximating the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. 

Balance sheet items, including goodwill arising on consolidation of foreign operations 

acquired on or after 1 January 2005, are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the foreign 

exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date. The resulting exchange differences are 

recognised directly in a separate component of equity. Goodwill arising on consolidation of 

a foreign operation acquired before 1 January 2005 is translated at the foreign exchange 

rate that applied at the date of acquisition of the foreign operation.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount of the exchange differences 

recognised in equity which relate to that foreign operation is included in the calculation of 

the income statement on disposal.

v) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are expensed in the income statement in the period which they are 

incurred , except to the extent that they are capitalised as being directly attributable to the 

acquisition, construction or production of an asset which necessarily takes a substantial 

period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost of a qualifying asset commences 

when expenditure for the asset is being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred 

and activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale are in 

progress. Capitalisation of borrowing costs is suspended or ceases when substantially 

all the activities necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are 

interrupted or complete.

w) Related parties

For the purposes of these financial statements, parties are considered to be related to the 

Group if:

i) the party has the ability, directly or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, 

to control the Group or exercise significant influence over the Group in making 

financial and operating policy decisions, or has joint control over the Group;

ii) the Group and the party are subject to common control;

iii) the party is an associate of the Group or a joint venture in which the Group is a 

venturer;
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)
w) Related parties (cont’d)

iv) the party is a member of key management personnel of the Group or the Group’s 

parent, or a close family member of such an individual, or is an entity under the 

control, joint control or significant influence of such individuals;

v) the party is a close family member of a party referred to in note 2(w)(i) or is an 

entity under the control, joint control or significant influence of such individuals; or

vi) the party is a post-employment benefit plan which is for the benefit of employees of 

the Group or of any entity that is a related party of the Group.

Close family members of an individual are those family members who may be expected to 

influence, or be influenced by, that individual in their dealings with the entity.

x) Segment reporting

A segment is a distinguishable component of the Group that is engaged either in providing 

products or services (business segment), or in providing products or services within a 

particular economic environment (geographical segment), which is subject to risks and 

rewards that are different from those of other segments.

In accordance with the Group’s internal financial reporting system, the Group has chose 

business segment information as the primary reporting format and geographical segment 

information as the secondary reporting format for the purposes of these financial 

statements.

Segment revenue, expenses, results, assets and liabilities include items directly 

attributable to a segment as well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis to 

that segment. For example, segment assets may include inventories, trade receivables 

and property, plant and equipment. Segment revenue, expenses, assets and liabilities are 

determined before intra-group balances and intra-group transactions are eliminated as 

part of the consolidation process, except to the extent that such intra-group balances and 

transactions are between group entities within a single segment. Inter-segment pricing is 

based on similar terms as those available to other external parties.

Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during the period to acquire 

segment assets (both tangible and intangible) that are expected to be used for more than 

one period.

Unallocated items mainly comprise financial and corporate assets, interest-bearing loans, 

borrowings, tax balances, corporate and financing expenses.
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3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING 
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
The HKICPA has issued a number of new and revised HKFRSs and Interpretations that are first 

effective or available for early adoption for the current accounting period of the Group and the 

Company.

There are no significant changes to the accounting policies applied in these financial statements 

for the years presented as a result of these developments. However, as a result of the adoption 

of HKFRS 7, Financial instruments; Disclosures  and the amendment to HKAS 1, Presentation of 

financial statements: Capital disclosure , there have been some additional disclosure provide as 

follows:

A a result of the adoption of HKFRS 7, the financial statements include expanded disclosure 

about the significance of the Group’s finical instruments and the nature and extant of risk arising 

from those instruments, compared with the information previously required to be disclosed by 

HKAS 32, Financial instruments: Disclosure and presentation . These disclosures are provided 

throughout these financial statements, in particular in note 40.

The amendment to HKAS 1 introduces additional disclosure requirements to provide information 

about the level of capital and the Group’s and the Company’s objectives, policies and processes 

for managing capital. These new disclosures are set out in note 38(e).

Both HKFRS 7 and the amendment to HKAS 1 do not have any material impact on the 

classification, recognition and measurement of the amounts recognised in the financial 

instruments.

The Group has not applied any new standard or interpretation that is not yet effective for the 

current accounting period (see note 44).
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 
UNCERTAINTY
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and 

other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under 

the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting 

estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results.

The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to 

the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below:

a) Impairment of property, plant and equipment

In determining whether an asset is impaired or the event previously causing the impairment 

no longer exists, the Group has to exercise judgement in the area of asset impairment, 

particularly in assessing: (i) whether an event has occurred that may affect the asset 

value or such event affecting the asset value has not been in existence; (ii) whether the 

carrying value of an asset can be supported by the net present value of future cash flows 

which are estimated based upon the continued use of the asset or derecognition; and 

(iii) the appropriate key assumptions to be applied in preparing cash flow projections are 

discounted using an appropriate rate. Changing the assumptions selected by management 

to determine the level of impairment, including the discount rates or the growth rate 

assumptions in the cash flow projections, could materially affect the net present value 

used in the impairment test. The Group determines whether an asset is impaired at least 

on an annual basis or where an indication of impairment exists. This requires an estimation 

of the value in use of the asset. Estimating the value in use requires the Group to make an 

estimate of the expected future cash flows from the assets and also to choose a suitable 

discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.

b) Useful lives and residual values of property, plant and equipment

Management determines the estimated useful lives and residual values for the Group’s 

property, plant and equipment. The Group will revise the depreciation charge where useful 

lives and residual values are different to previous estimates, or will write off or write down 

technically obsolete or on-strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 
UNCERTAINTY (cont’d)
c) Investment properties

The fair values of investment properties are determined by independent valuers on an 

open market basis.

In making the judgement, consideration has been given to assumptions that are 

mainly based on market conditions existing at the balance sheet date and appropriate 

capitalisation rates. These estimates are regularly compared to actual market date and 

actual transactions entered into by the Group.

d) Impairment of intangible assets and goodwill

The Group performs annual tests on whether there has been impairment of intangible 

assets and goodwill in accordance with the accounting policy stated in note 2(j)(ii). The 

recoverable amounts of cash generating units are determined based on value in-use 

calculations. These calculations require the use of estimates and assumptions made by 

management on the future operation of the business, pre-tax discount rates, and other 

assumptions underlying the value-in-use calculations.

e) Amortisation of intangible assets

Intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. 

The determination of the useful lives involves management’s estimation. The Group re-

assesses the useful life of the intangible assets and if the expectation differs from the 

original estimate, such a difference may impact the amortisation in the year and the 

estimate will be changed in the future period.

f) Inventories

The Group performs regular review of the carrying amounts of inventories with the aged 

inventories analysis expected future consumption and management judgment. Based 

on this review, write down of inventories will be made when the carrying amount of 

inventories decline below the estimated net realisable value. However, actual consumption 

may be different from estimation and profit or loss could be affected by differences in this 

estimation.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 
UNCERTAINTY (cont’d)
g) Impairment of receivables

The policy for impairment on receivables of the Group is based on the evaluation of 

collectability ageing analysis of accounts and on management’s judgement. A considerable 

amount of judgement is required in assessing the ultimate realisation of these receivables, 

including the current creditworthiness and the past collection history of each customer. 

If the financial conditions of customers of the Group were to deteriorate, resulting in an 

impairment of their ability to make payments, additional impairment may be required.

h) Taxation

The Group is subject to various taxes in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”). 

Significant judgement is required in determining the provision for taxation. There are many 

transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during 

the ordinary course of business. The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax issues 

based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome 

of these matters is different from the amounts that are initially recorded, such differences 

will impact the tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made.
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5. TURNOVER
The principal activities of the Group are manufacturing and sale of household products, 

industrial products, cosmetics and skincare products and bio-technology products with medical 

applications, provision of loan financing services and investments and/or trading in market 

securities, bonds, foreign currencies, various funds and other income generated fixed assets’s 

portfolios.

Turnover represents the sales value of goods supplied to customers net of value added tax, 

sales returns and discount. The amount of each significant category of revenue recognised in 

turnover during the year is as follows:

 The Group

 2007 2006

 HK$’000 HK$’000

Household products 167,191 166,176

Industrial products 296,395 258,032

Cosmetics and skincare products 583,267 409,479

Bio-technology products 7,781 7,128

Investments 17,199 6,101
  

 1,071,833 846,916
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6. OTHER REVENUE AND NET INCOME
 2007 2006

 HK$’000 HK$’000

Royalty income – 446

Government grants 823 –

Bank interest income 4,094 5,065

Loan interest income 8,767 2,957

Other interest income 205 261

Rental income from operating leases 2,539 4,421

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment – 491

Write back of impairment loss on inventories 2,656 399

Write back of impairment loss on trade receivables 6,243 –

Net unrealised gain on trading securities 27,342 32,545

Net exchange gain 52,133 35,365

Sales of scrap materials 1,063 226

Others 1,596 1,493
  

 107,461 83,669
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7. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION
Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging:

 2007 2006

 HK$’000 HK$’000

a) Finance costs

Interest expense on bank advances and other 

 borrowings wholly repayable within five years 13,815 10,160

Finance charges on obligations under finance leases 4 4

Other borrowing costs 558 3,606
  

Total borrowing costs 14,377 13,770
  

b) Staff costs (excluding directors’ remuneration in note 9)

Salaries, wages and other benefits 47,580 31,864

Equity settled share-based payment expenses 9,180 4,412

Contributions to defined contribution retirement plans 552 463

Unutilised annual leave 223 106
  

 57,535 36,845
  

c) Other items

 

Auditors’ remuneration 4,006 2,305

Cost of inventories 438,552 434,105

Depreciation

 – assets held under finance leases 18 18

 – other assets 76,117 50,861

Amortisation

 – prepaid lease payments for land under operating leases 2,851 2,790

 – intangible assets 6,989 9,459

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 1,534 –

Impairment loss on trade and other receivables 8,895 –

Write off of bad debts 2,078 115

Write off of inventories – 35,543

Operating lease charges: minimum lease payments

 – property rentals 6,901 5,715

Research and development costs 6,306 4,979
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8. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
a) Income tax in the consolidated income statement represents:

 2007 2006

 HK$’000 HK$’000

Current tax – Hong Kong profits tax

 Provision for the year 2,151 511

Current tax – Overseas income tax

 Provision for the year 50,220 30,636

 Under-provision in prior year – 888

 50,220 31,524

Deferred tax

 Origination and reversal of temporary differences 7,751 (1,816)
  

 60,122 30,219 

  

Provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 17.5% (2006: 17.5%) on the 

estimated assessable profits for the year. Taxation for overseas subsidiaries is charged at 

the appropriate current rates of taxation ruling in the relevant countries.
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8. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT (cont’d)
b) Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting profit at applicable tax rates is as 

follows:

 2007 2006

 HK$’000 HK$’000

 

Profit before taxation 418,581 301,360
  

Notional tax on profit before taxation, calculated

 at the rates applicable to profits in the

 countries concerned 119,811 46,626

Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 32,129 3,077

Tax effect of non-taxable income (26,052) (16,649)

Tax effect of difference in depreciation between

 accounting and tax base (741) –

Tax effect of unused tax losses not recognised 19,533 6,528

Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses not recognised (3,350) (436)

Preferential tax treatment (88,010) (8,927)

Deferred tax assets overprovided in prior years 7,355 –

Deferred tax liabilities overprovided in prior years (553) –
  

Tax expense for the year 60,122 30,219
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8. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT (cont’d)
b) Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting profit at applicable tax rates is as 

follows: (cont’d)

Note: Overseas tax provision is required to be made in respect of Dongguan Proamine Chemical 

Co., Limited (“Dongguan Proamine”), Dongguan Gao Bao Chemical Co., Limited (“Gao Bao 

Chemical”), Global Cosmetics (China) Co., Limited (“Global Cosmetics”), and Dongguan 

Polygene Biotech R&D Co., Limited (“Dongguan Polygene”), all of them are subsidiaries of 

the Company established in the PRC. In accordance with the relevant income tax rules and 

regulations, the enacted income tax rate is 33%. In accordance with the relevant income tax 

rules and regulations of Dongguan Province, Global Cosmetics is entitled to preferential tax 

treatment by reducing the Foreign Enterprise Income Tax (“FEIT”) rate to 24%. After the 

implementation of New Law, the tax rate is unified at 25% for the year ending 31 December 

2008.

 Pursuant to a letter of approval issued by the local tax authority on 8 April 2005. Global 

Cosmetics was exempted from FEIT for the first two profitable years of its operations after 

offsetting prior years’ losses and is entitled to a 50% reduction on the FEIT for the following 

three years. Global Cosmetics began its first two profitable years in the year ended 31 

December 2004 and 2005, and is subject to PRC FEIT at a rate of 12% for each of the three 

years ended 31 December 2008.

 On 30 May 2003, Dongguan Proamine was accredited by the Department of Science and 

Technology of Guangdong Province as a Hi-and-New Tech Enterprise (“高新技術企業外商
投資企業”) of Guangdong Province. On 16 January 2004, Dongguan Proamine received a 

written confirmation from Dongguan Local Tax Bureau that it was entitled to a reduced income 

tax rate of 15% for the period from 1 January 2003 to 31 December 2005. Also, on 1 June 

2005, Dongguan Proamine continued to be accredited as a Hi-and-New Tech Enterprise of 

Guangdong Province and the income tax rate remained as 15% for 2006 and 2007.

 Pursuant to a letter of approval issued by the local tax authority on 1 July 2005, Gao Bao 

Chemical was exempted from EIT for the first two profitable years of its operations after 

offsetting prior years’ losses and are entitled to a 50% reduction on the EIT for the following 

three years. Gao Bao Chemical began its first profitable year in the year ended 31 December 

2005 and obtained tax exemption for 2005 and 2006, and was entitled to a reduced income 

tax rate for 2007, 2008 and 2009.
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9. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
Directors’ remuneration disclosed pursuant to section 161 of the Hong Kong Companies 

Ordinance is as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2007

  Salaries

  Allowances  Retirement

 Directors’ and benefits Share-based scheme

 fees in kind payments contributions Total

 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Executive directors

Lau Jin Wei, Jim – 2,168 – 12 2,180

Wong Ying Yin – 387 32 12 431

Bang Young-Bae, Ray (Note 2) – 720 27 12 759

Independent non-executive 

 directors

Ou Ying Ji 20 – – – 20

Lin Jian 20 – – – 20

Lee Pak Chung 50 – – – 50
     

 90 3,275 59 36 3,460
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9. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (cont’d)
For the year ended 31 December 2006

  Salaries

  Allowances  Retirement

 Directors’ and benefits Share-based scheme

 fees in kind payments contributions Total

 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Executive directors

Lau Jin Wei, Jim – 1,881 – 12 1,893

Wong Wai Kwan,

 Connie (Note 1) – 420 33 6 459

Wong Ying Yin – 404 38 12 454

Bang Young-Bae, Ray (Note 2) – 420 33 6 459

Independent non-executive 

 directors

Ou Ying Ji 40 – – – 40

Lin Jian 30 – – – 30

Lee Pak Chung 20 – 11 – 31
     

 90 3,125 115 36 3,366
     

Note 1: Retired on 9/6/2006

Note 2: Appointed on 9/6/2006

The above emoluments for the year ended 31 December 2007 include the value of share options 

granted to certain directors under the Company’s share option scheme as estimated at the date 

of grant. The details of these benefits in kind are disclosed note 34.

No Director received any emoluments from the Group as an inducement to join or leave 

the Group or compensate for loss of office. No director waived or has agreed to waive any 

emoluments during the year.
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10. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, one (2006: three) is director whose 

emoluments are disclosed in note 9. The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the other 

four (2006: two) individuals are as follows:

 2007 2006

 HK$’000 HK$’000

Salaries and other emoluments 5,212 1,684

Share-based payments 508 197

Retirement scheme contributions 48 24
  

 5,768 1,905
  

The emoluments of the four (2006: two) individuals with the highest emoluments are within the 

following bands:

 2007 2006

 Number of Number of

 individuals individuals

HK$Nil – HK$1,000,000 2 1

HK$1,000,001 – HK$1,500,000 1 1

HK$1,500,001 – HK$2,000,000 1 –
  

11. PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY SHAREHOLDERS OF THE COMPANY
The consolidated profit attributable to equity shareholders of the Company includes a profit of 

approximately HK$10,714,000 (2006: loss of HK$29,987,000) which has been dealt with in the 

financial statements of the Company.
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12. DIVIDENDS
a) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company attributable to the current 

financial year

 2007 2006

 HK$’000 HK$’000

Final dividend proposed after the balance sheet

 date of nil (2006: HK$0.03) per ordinary share – 31,397
  

The final dividend proposed after the balance sheet date has not been recognised as a 

liability at the balance sheet date.

b) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company attributable to the previous 

financial year, approved and paid during the year

 2007 2006

 HK$’000 HK$’000

Final dividend in respect of the previous financial year,

 approved and paid during the year, of HK$0.03

 (2006: HK$0.02) per share 32,772 20,396
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13. EARNINGS PER SHARE
a) Basic earnings per share

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the profit attributable to 

ordinary equity shareholders of the Company of approximately HK$311,772,000 (2006: 

HK$197,039,000) and the weighted average of approximately 1,119,389,000 shares (2006: 

999,418,000 shares) in issue during the year, calculated as follows:

 2007 2006

 ’000 ’000

Issued ordinary shares at 1 January 1,046,579 935,193

Effect of warrants exercised 45,677 4,340

Effect of share options exercised 27,133 59,885
  

Weighted average number of ordinary

 shares at 31 December 1,119,389 999,418
  

b) Diluted earnings per share

The calculation of diluted earnings per share is based on the profit attributable to 

ordinary equity shareholders of the Company of approximately HK$311,772,000 (2006: 

HK$197,039,000) and the weighted average number of diluted ordinary shares of 

approximately 1,212,833,000 shares (2006: 1,004,435,000 shares), calculated as follows:

 2007 2006

 ’000 ’000

Weighted average number of ordinary 

 shares at 31 December 1,119,389 999,418

Effect of deemed issue of shares attributable to the

 Company’s instrument of warrants 51,797 –

Effect of deemed issue of shares under the

 Company’s share option scheme 41,647 5,017
  

Weighted average number of ordinary shares

 (diluted) at 31 December 1,212,833 1,004,435
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14. SEGMENT REPORTING
Segment information is presented in respect of the Group’s business and geographical 

segments. Business segment information is chosen as the primary reporting format because this 

is more relevant to the Group’s internal financial reporting.

Business segments

The Group comprises the following main business segments:

a) Household products segment – manufacture of household products for sale to wholesalers 

and retailers in the general consumer market;

b) Industrial products segment – manufacture of industrial surfactants for sale principally to 

textile and garment manufactures and traders;

c) Cosmetics and skincare products segment – manufacture of cosmetics and skincare 

products under the brand name of Marjorie Bertagne for sale to authorised distributors 

and retailers in the general consumer market;

d) Bio-technology products segment – manufacture of biotechnology products with medical 

applications; and

e) Investments segment – engaged in provision of loan financing services and investment 

and/or trading in market securities, bonds, foreign currencies, various funds and other 

income generated fixed assets portfolios.
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14. SEGMENT REPORTING (cont’d)
Primary reporting format – business segments

 Household  Cosmetics and Bio-technology
  products Industrial products skincare products products Investments Consolidated
 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006
 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue from external customers 167,191 166,176 296,395 258,032 583,267 409,479 7,781 7,128 17,199 6,101 1,071,833 846,916
            

Segment results 42,442 32,382 72,738 24,483 296,891 210,400 1,580 (5,063) 20,773 35,129 434,424 297,331
            

Unallocated operating income and expenses           (1,466) 17,799
            

Profit from operations           432,958 315,130
Finance costs           (14,377) (13,770)
            

Profit before taxation           418,581 301,360
Income tax           (60,122) (30,219)
            

Profit for the year           358,459 271,141
            

Depreciation 16,218 15,736 25,175 24,430 34,141 9,975 601 738 – – 76,135 50,879
Amortision 2,802 3,446 4,350 5,350 2,584 3,358 104 95 – – 9,840 12,249
Loss /(gain) on disposal of property,
 plant and equipment 593 (191) 920 (293) – – 21 (7) – – 1,534 (491)
Net unrealised gain on trading securities – – – – – – – – (27,342) (32,545) (27,342) (32,545)
Write off of inventories – – – – – 35,543 – – – – – 35,543
Write back of impairment loss on inventories (73) (172) (113) (227) (2,467) – (3) – – – (2,656) (399)
Impairment loss on trade and other receivables 3,435 – 5,333 – – – 127 – – – 8,895 –
Write off of bad debts 49 50 75 65 1,952 – 2 – – – 2,078 115
Write back of impairment loss
 on trade receivables (45) – (70) – (6,128) – – – – – (6,243) –
            

 Household  Cosmetics and Bio-technology
 products Industrial products skincare products products Investments Consolidated
 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006
 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
 
Segment assets 298,143 256,464 462,810 415,253 1,183,698 604,083 35,755 67,215 386,644 191,906 2,367,050 1,534,921
Investment properties           23,500 19,240
Cash and cash equivalents           472,989 405,181
Other unallocated assets           214,482 198,193
            

Total assets           3,078,021 2,157,535
            

Segment liabilities 41,511 25,187 69,075 39,105 89,721 141,491 – 1,079 959 1,004 201,266 207,866
Unallocated liabilities           382,281 207,808
            

Total liabilities           583,547 415,674
            

Capital expenditure 11,421 151,535 17,728 235,267 129,739 172,175 423 6,489 – – 159,311 565,466
Unallocated capital
 expenditure           1,808 190
            

           161,119 565,656
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14. SEGMENT REPORTING (cont’d)
Geographical segments

The Group operates in two main geographical areas:

The PRC – manufacturing and trading of household products, industrial products, cosmetics and 

skincare products and bio-technology products with medical applications.

Hong Kong – trading of household products, industrial products and cosmetic and skincare 

products and provision of loan financing services and investments and/or trading in market 

securities, bonds, foreign currencies, various funds and other income generated fixed assets’ 

portfolios.

In presenting information on the basis of geographical segments, segment revenue is based on 

the geographical location of Company’s subsidiaries. Segment assets and capital expenditure are 

based on the geographical location of the assets.

 Hong Kong The PRC

 2007 2006 2007 2006

 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue from external customers 111,239 81,543 960,594 765,373

Segment results 62,585 79,290 371,839 218,041

Segment assets 138,559 414,731 2,228,491 1,120,190

Capital expenditure incurred during 

 the year 3,638 3,791 157,481 561,865
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15. GOODWILL
 The Group

 HK$’000

Cost

 At 1 January 2006, 31 December 2006 and 1 January 2007 –

 Arising from acquisition of additional interest in subsidiary 459,428
 

 At 31 December 2007 459,428
 

Accumulated amortisation impairment loss

 At 1 January 2006, 31 December 2006 , 1 January 2007

  and 31 December 2007 –
 

Carrying amount

 At 31 December 2007 459,428
 

 At 31 December 2006 –
 

Pursuant to an acquisition agreement dated 2 January 2007, the Group acquired 6,800,000 shares 

of HK$1 each in the issued share capital of Global Cosmetics (HK) Company Limited (“Cosmetics 

HK”) (representing 17% of the entire issued share capital of Cosmetics HK) from Cristal Marketing 

Management Company Limited (“Cristal Marketing”), a minority shareholder of a subsidiary of 

the Company which held 30% in Cosmetics HK, for a consideration of HK$241,090,000. The 

consideration was determined having regard to the net asset value and earnings of Cosmetics HK 

and its subsidiary and the market potential of their business. After the acquisition, the percentage 

of the issued share capital of Cosmetics HK held by the Group was changed from 70% to 87% and 

the goodwill arising from the acquisition by the Group amounted to approximately HK$222,963,000 

with reference to the consideration paid amounting to approximately HK$241,090,000 and the 

carrying amounts of the net assets acquired amounting to approximately HK$18,127,000.
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15. GOODWILL (cont’d)
Pursuant to an acquisition agreement dated 16 August 2007, the Group acquired 5,200,000 

shares of HK$1 each in the issued share capital of Cosmetics HK (representing 13% of the 

entire issued share capital of Cosmetics HK) from Cristal Marketing, for a consideration of 

approximately HK$274,058,000 which was paid by the Company by transfer of 13,936,390 

ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each of the Bio Beauty Group Ltd. (“Bio Beauty”). The consideration 

was determined based on (i) profitability of Cosmetics HK and Bio Beauty for the year ended 

31 December 2006 and (ii) the profit earning ratio of Bio Beauty calculated with reference to 

the subscription price of the convertible preference share (see note 37) in issue. After the 

acquisition, the percentage of the issued share capital of Cosmetics HK held by the Group was 

changed from 87% to 100% and the goodwill arising from the acquisition by the Group amounted 

to approximately HK$236,465,000 with reference to the consideration paid amounting to 

approximately HK$274,058,000 and the carrying amounts of the net assets acquired amounting 

to approximately HK$37,593,000.

All of the goodwill is allocated to the Cash Generating Unit (“CGU”) of cosmetics business in 

Hong Kong and the PRC. During the year ended 31 December 2007, management of the Group 

determines that there was no impairment of any of its CGU containing goodwill.

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are determined from value in use calculations. The key 

assumptions for the value in use calculations are those regarding the discount rates, growth 

rates and expected changes to selling prices and direct costs during the period. Management 

estimates discount rates using pre-tax rates that reflect current market assessments of the time 

value of money and the risks specific to the CGUs. The growth rates are based on industry 

growth forecasts. Changes in selling prices and direct costs are based on past practices and 

expectations of future changes in the market.

During the year ended 31 December 2007, the Group performed impairment review for goodwill 

based on cash flow forecasts derived from the most recent financial budgets for the next five 

years approved by management using the discount rate of 10% which reflects current market 

assessments of the time value of money and the credit risk specific to the CGUs. The cash flows 

for the remaining 15 years are extrapolated using a constant growth rate of 12% per annum 

which is made with reference to the GDP growth rate in the PRC and also the industry growth 

forecasts for cosmetics business. No impairment loss was considered necessary.
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
a) The Group

 Buildings  Plant Furniture,

 held for Leasehold and fixtures and Motor Construction

 own use improvements machinery equipment vehicles in progress Total

 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Cost

 At 1 January 2006 40,993 39,257 328,130 17,452 8,402 109,035 543,269

 Exchange adjustment 1,640 1,319 13,762 468 163 4,361 21,713

 Additions 121,906 106,503 55,178 2,514 2,083 277,472 565,656

 Disposals – (196) – – (1,435) – (1,631)

 Transfer 45,671 60,007 193,795 – – (299,473) –
       

 At 31 December 2006 and

  1 January 2007 210,210 206,890 590,865 20,434 9,213 91,395 1,129,007

 Exchange adjustment 16,153 4,011 43,650 8,946 286 4,146 77,192

 Additions 18,702 6,091 71,060 43,170 634 21,462 161,119

 Disposals – – (2,545) – (408) – (2,953)

 Transfer 37,921 (137,860) 56,187 103,499 (31) (59,716) –
       

 At 31 December 2007 282,986 79,132 759,217 176,049 9,694 57,287 1,364,365
       

Accumulated depreciation

 At 1 January 2006 4,388 8,248 105,207 13,126 3,441 – 134,410

 Exchange adjustment 176 125 4,209 389 51 – 4,950

 Charge for the year 3,138 5,974 37,954 2,147 1,666 – 50,879

 Written back on disposals – (196) – – (1,386) – (1,582)
       

 At 31 December 2006 and

  1 January 2007 7,702 14,151 147,370 15,662 3,772 – 188,657

 Exchange adjustment 659 387 12,664 1,201 140 – 15,051

 Charge for the year 4,613 3,460 56,750 9,364 1,948 – 76,135

 Disposals – – (639) – (538) – (1,177)

 Transfer – (8,496) 444 8,238 (186) – –
       

 At 31 December 2007 12,974 9,502 216,589 34,465 5,136 – 278,666
       

Net book value

 At 31 December 2007 270,012 69,630 542,628 141,584 4,558 57,287 1,085,699
       

 At 31 December 2006 202,508 192,739 443,495 4,772 5,441 91,395 940,350
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (cont’d)
b)  As at 31 December 2007, the net book value of furniture, fixtures and equipment 

of approximately HK$141,584,000 (2006: HK$4,772,000) included an amount of 

approximately HK$43,000 (2006: HK$61,000) in respect of assets held under finance 

leases.

17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
The Group

 2007 2006

 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 19,240 18,500

Valuation gain on investment properties 3,013 –

Exchange adjustment 1,247 740
  

At 31 December 23,500 19,240
  

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties at 31 December 2007 have been arrived 

at on the basis of a valuation carried out on that date by an independent qualified professional 

valuer, not connected with the Group. The professional valuer has appropriate qualifications and 

recent experiences in the valuation of similar properties. The valuation was arrived on the basis 

of their market value subject to the existing leases and with reference to market comparables.

All of the Group’s properties held under operating leases to earn rentals or for capital 

appreciation purposes are measured using the fair value model and are classified and accounted 

for as investment properties.
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18. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS FOR LAND UNDER OPERATING LEASES
The net book value of the Group’s prepaid lease payments for land under operating leases is analysed as 

follows:

 The Group

 2007 2006

 HK$’000 HK$’000

In Hong Kong, held on:

 Lease between 30 to 40 years 39,015 –

Outside Hong Kong, held on:

 Leases of 50 years 136,915 131,206
  

 175,930 131,206

Analysed for reporting purposes as:

 Current portion 2,966 2,951

 Non-current portion 172,964 128,255
  

 175,930 131,206
  

In the opinion of the directors, the deposits for acquisition of interests in leasehold land held for own use 

under operating leases of HK$39,015,000 at 31 December 2006 was classified as non-current portion 

of prepaid lease payments for land under operating leases with the lease commencing in 2009 and no 

amortisation was provided for the year ended 31 December 2007.

The amortisation charge for the year is included in the cost of sales of the consolidated income statement.
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19. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
 Licenses

 HK$’000

Cost

 At 1 January 2006 84,315

 Exchange adjustment 2,542
 

 At 31 December 2006 and 1 January 2007 86,857

 Exchange adjustment 2,996
 

 At 31 December 2007 89,853
 

Accumulated amortisation

 At 1 January 2006 43,590

 Exchange adjustment 1,017

 Amortisation for the year 9,459
 

 At 31 December 2006 and 1 January 2007 54,066

 Exchange adjustment 1,235

 Amortisation for the year 6,989
 

 At 31 December 2007 62,290
 

Carrying amount

 At 31 December 2007 27,563
 

 At 31 December 2006 32,791
 

Licences comprise licence rights acquired from independent third parties to exploit technical 

know-how for the manufacture of certain bio-technology products with medical applications. The 

underlying products relating to the licences acquired have been put into commercial production. 

Amortisation on the cost of licences has been provided on a straight-line basis over their 

estimated useful lives to the Group.

The amortisation charge for the year is included in cost of sales in the consolidated income 

statement.
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20. DEPOSITS FOR ACQUISITION OF PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
At 31 December 2007, the Group paid a total sum of approximately HK$173,737,000 (2006: 

HK$207,110,000) as deposits for the acquisition of certain property, plant and equipment, which 

comprise of plant and machinery for manufacturing operations as well as for a new business line 

of recycling waste tyres and plastic products into usable oil, diesel, gasoline and natural gas.

The Group’s application for a site located at Yuen Long Industrial Estate to pursue its recycling 

business was approved by Hong Kong Science and Technology Parks Corporation. It is expected 

that the Group will invest in aggregate approximately HK$300,000,000 to pursue the recycling 

business plant and machinery and the Company expects that the recycling plant will start 

commercial production in year 2009.

Capital commitments of the Group in respect of the remaining unpaid balances of approximately 

HK$109,172,000 (2006: HK$128,372,000) for these purchases are disclosed in note 42(a) to 

the financial statements.

21. DEPOSITS FOR ACQUISITION OF INTERESTS IN LEASEHOLD LAND HELD 
FOR OWN USE UNDER OPERATING LEASES
At 31 December 2006, the Group paid a total sum of approximately HK$39,015,000 as a deposit 

for the acquisition of interests in leasehold land held for own use under operating leases, which 

was used to purchase a piece of land in Yuen Long, Hong Kong with a lease term expiring on 27 

June 2047. On 2 January 2007, the Group formally entered into an operating lease agreement 

for the land; and therefore, the deposit of HK$39,015,000 has been reclassified as prepaid lease 

payments for land under operating leases as at 31 December 2007.

22. DEPOSITS FOR ACQUISITION OF INTANGIBLE ASSETS
At 31 December 2007, the Group paid a total sum of approximately HK$14,070,000 (2006: 

HK$13,272,000) as deposits for the purchase of the licenses rights for the manufacturing of 

enzymes. The underlying products relating to the licenses acquired will put into commercial 

production. The deposit and further contract sums will be capitalised as intangible assets upon 

subsequent completion and transfer of the intangible assets to the Group.

Capital commitments of the Group in respect of the remaining unpaid balances of approximately 

HK$475,000 (2006: HK$168,000) for these acquisitions are disclosed in note 42(a) to the 

financial statements.
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23. OTHER DEPOSITS AND CLUB DEBENTURE
 The Group

 2007 2006

 HK$’000 HK$’000

Rental deposits – –

Club debenture 460 460
  

 460 460

Less: Impairment loss on club debenture (290) (290)
  

 170 170
  

24. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
 The Company

 2007 2006

 HK$’000 HK$’000

Unlisted shares, at cost 315,327 89,412
  

a) Amounts due from/to subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
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24. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (cont’d)
b) Particulars of the major subsidiaries at 31 December 2007 are as follows:

   Particulars

 Place of  of issued and

 incorporation/ Principal activities/ paid-up share/

Name establishment place of operation registered capital Interest held

Bio Beauty Group Ltd.* The Cayman Islands Investment holding/ 90,850,000 84.66%#

   Hong Kong ordinary shares of

   HK$0.1 each

Global Success Properties The British Virgin Investment holding/ 200 ordinary 100%#

 Limited  Islands (“BVI”)  Hong Kong shares of

   US$1 each

GCC Finance Company Hong Kong Provision of loan 2 ordinary 100%#

 Limited   financing services/ shares of

   Hong Kong HK$1 each

Global Power and Energy Hong Kong Energy recycling 10,000 ordinary 100%#

 Company Limited   business/ shares of

   Hong Kong HK$1 each

Global Chemicals (China)  Hong Kong Trading of household 10,000 ordinary 100%

 Company Limited (Note (i))   products and  shares of

   industrial products/ HK$1 each and

   Hong Kong 1,000,000

   non-voting

   deferred shares

   of HK$1 each

Global Cosmetics (HK)  Hong Kong Trading of cosmetics 40,000,000 100%

 Company Limited*   and skincare shares of

   products/ HK$1 each

    Hong Kong
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24. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (cont’d)
b) (cont’d)

   Particulars

 Place of  of issued and

 incorporation/ Principal activities/ paid-up share/

Name establishment place of operation registered capital Interest held

Global Idea (Int’l) Company Hong Kong Trading of cosmetics 1,000 ordinary 100%

 Limited*   and skincare shares of

   products/ HK$1 each

   Hong Kong

Dongguan Proamine PRC Manufacture and Approximately 100%

 Chemical Co., Limited   sale of household HK$111,319,000

 (Note (ii))   products and

   industrial products/

   PRC

Global Cosmetics (China) PRC Manufacture and HK$160,000,000 100%

 Co., Limited* (Note (iii))   sale of cosmetics

   and skincare

   products/PRC

Dongguan Gao Bao PRC Manufacture and RMB7,761,000 100%

 Chemical Co., Limited   sale of household

 (Note (iv))   products and

   industrial products/

   PRC

Dongguan Polygene Biotech RPC Research and HK$16,000,000 100%

 R&D Co., Limited   development of

 (Note (v))   bio-technology

   products/PRC

High Billion Investment Hong Kong Holding of licence/ 10,000 ordinary 100%

 Limited *   Hong Kong shares of

   HK$1 each

* Audited by one of the “Big Four” accounting firms
# Shares held directly by the Company
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24. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (cont’d)
Notes:

i) The non-voting deferred shares carry no rights as to dividends, no rights to attend or vote at general 

meetings, and no rights to receive any surplus in return of capital in a winding-up of Global Chemicals 

(China) Company Limited (“Global Chemicals”) (other than 1% of the surplus assets of Global 

Chemicals available for distribution after a total of HK$1,000,000,000,000 has been distributed to 

holders of the ordinary shares of Global Chemicals in such winding-up).

ii) Dongguan Proamine is a foreign wholly owned enterprise established by the Company in the PRC for 

an operating period of 12 years commencing from the date of the issuance of its business licence 

on 29 August 1995. The registered capital of Dongguan Proamine was HK$112,000,000 (2006: 

HK$111,319,000) of which approximately HK$111,319,000 was paid up by the Group as at 31 

December 2007.

iii) Global Cosmetics is a foreign wholly owned enterprise established by the company in the PRC for 

an operating period of 30 years commencing from the date of the issuance of its business licence on 

1 April 2005. The registered capital of Global Cosmetics was increased to HK$160,000,000 (2006: 

HK$60,000,000) in 2007 which was fully paid up by the Group as at 31 December 2007.

iv) Dongguan Gao Bao is a foreign wholly owned enterprise acquired by the Company in the PRC 

in June 2005 for an operating period of 10 years commencing from the date of the issuance of 

its business licence on 11 December 1998. The registered capital of Dongguan Gao Bao was 

RMB7,761,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$7,462,000) which was fully paid up by the Group as 

at 31 December 2006 and 2007.

v) Dongguan Polygene is a foreign wholly owned enterprise established by the Company in the PRC 

for an operating period of 30 years commencing from the date of the issuance of its business 

licence on 18 July 2003. The registered capital of Dongguan Polygene was HK$20,000,000 of which 

approximately HK$16,000,000 was paid up by the Group as at 31 December 2006 and 2007.
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25. TRADING SECURITIES

 The Group

 2007 2006

 HK$’000 HK$’000

Listed equity securities at market value

 – in Hong Kong 192,209 167,727

 – outside Hong Kong 6,577 8,549
  

 198,786 176,276
  

26. INVENTORIES
 The Group

 2007 2006

 HK$’000 HK$’000

Raw materials, at cost 42,084 27,552

Finished goods, at cost 15,332 13,974
  

 57,416 41,526
  

Less: Impairment loss (6,199) (8,326)
  

 51,217 33,200
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27. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

 The Group The Company

 2007 2006 2007 2006

 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

 

Trade receivables 96,000 103,768 – –

Bills receivables 12,662 4,591 – –
    

 108,662 108,359 – –

Prepayments, deposits and

 other receivables 58,100 21,010 160 142
    

 166,762 129,369 160 142
    

The ageing analysis of the trade and bills receivables is as follows:

 The Group

 2007 2006

 HK$’000 HK$’000

 

Within 30 days 100,681 93,740

31 – 60 days 6,492 8,236

61 – 90 days 4,531 4,431

Over 90 days 6,578 16,259
  

 118,282 122,666

Less: Impairment loss on trade receivables (9,620) (14,307)
  

 108,662 108,359
  

The normal credit period granted to the customers of the Group is 30 to 180 days (2006: 30 

to 180 days). Impairment loss on trade receivables was made and thereafter written off when 

collection of full amount was no longer probable. Bad debts are written off as incurred.
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27. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (cont’d)
Included in trade and bills receivables in the balance sheet are mainly the following amounts 

denominated in a currencies other than the functional currency of the Company to which they 

relate:

 The Group

 2007 2006

 ’000 ’000

 

Renminbi (“RMB”) 100,384 99,430

United States Dollars (“US$”) 744 360
  

The movement of impairment loss on trade receivable is as follows:

 The Group

 2007 2006

 HK$’000 HK$’000

 

At 1 January 14,307 14,046

Write back on impairment loss of trade

 receivables during the year (6,243) –

Impairment loss on trade receivables recognised during

 the year 903 –

Exchange adjustment 653 261
  

At 31 December 9,620 14,307
  

28. LOAN RECEIVABLES
No signle loan receivable is individually material, and the terms and conditions of all loan 

receivables are presented as follows:

 The Group

 2007 2006

 HK$’000 HK$’000

 

Fixed-rate loan receivables 75,137 23,000

Variable-rate loan receivables 110,300 –
  

 185,437 23,000
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28. LOAN RECEIVABLES (cont’d)
The ranges of effective interest rates on the Group’s loan receivables are as follows:

 2007 2006

Effective interest rate:

 Fixed-rate loan receivables 5.00% to 6.00% 5.00% to 6.00%

 Variable-rate loan receivables 3.48% to 9.75% 9.50% to 9.75%

The loan receivables are unsecured and repayable within 1 year and denominated in HK$.

The Group has policy for allowance of bad and doubtful debts which is based on the evaluation 

of collectability and ageing analysis of accounts and on management’s judgement, including the 

current creditworthiness and the past collection history of each client.

In determining the recoverability of the loan receivables, the Group considers any change in the 

credit quality of the loan receivables from the date credit was initially granted up to the reporting 

date. The concentration of credit risk is limited due to the customer base being large and 

unrelated. Accordingly, the directors believe that no impairment is required.

29. FIXED BANK DEPOSITS
The fixed bank deposits carry at fixed interest rates ranging from 3.33% to 3.42% per annum 

with maturity over three months from 31 December 2007.

30. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
 The Group The Company

 2007 2006 2007 2006

 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Cash at bank and in hand 472,989 405,181 8,245 5,574
    



ANNUAL REPORT 2007

Global Green Tech Group Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2007

98

30. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (cont’d)
Included in cash and cash equivalents in the balance sheet are mainly the following amounts 

denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of the Company to which they 

relate:

 The Group

 2007 2006

 $’000 $’000

 

RMB 408,787 263,013

US$ 349 322

Euro (“EUR”) 23 51
  

31. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
 The Group The Company

 2007 2006 2007 2006

 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade payables 71,510 76,399 – –

Bills payable 15,531 7,334 – –
    

 87,041 83,733 – –

 

Accrued liabilities and other payables 76,531 100,256 2,226 2,370
    

 163,572 183,989 2,226 2,370
    

The ageing analysis of the trade and bills payable is as follows:

 The Group

 2007 2006

 HK$’000 HK$’000

 

Within 30 days 45,872 29,521

31-60 days 23,954 17,791

61-90 days 8,128 9,803

Over 90 days 9,087 26,618
  

 87,041 83,733
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31. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (cont’d)
Included in trade and bills payables in the balance sheet are mainly the following amounts 
denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of the Company to which they 
relate:

 The Group
 2007 2006
 ’000 ’000
 
RMB 60,348 72,815
US$ 2,879 –
  

32. LONG-TERM BANK LOANS
At 31 December 2007, the bank loans are repayable as follows:

 The Group The Company
 2007 2006 2007 2006
 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Unsecured bank loans repayable:
 Within 1 year or on demand 60,000 60,000 60,000 60,000
 After 1 year but within 2 years 180,000 60,000 180,000 60,000
 After 2 years but within 5 years – 80,000 – 80,000
    

Total unsecured bank loans 240,000 200,000 240,000 200,000

Less: Amount due within 1 year 
    shown under current liabilities (60,000) (60,000) (60,000) (60,000)
    

 180,000 140,000 180,000 140,000
    

a)  On 27 February 2006, the Company obtained a new syndicated bank loan of 
HK$200,000,000. The loan was fully drawn down during the year ended 31 December 
2006 and it bears an interest rate at HIBOR plus 1% per annum and repayable by 6 
unequal semi-annual instalments commencing 12 months after the date of the relevant 
loan agreement.

b)  On 16 March 2007, the Company drew down the revolving loan of HK$100,000,000 
according to the terms stipulated in the above syndicated bank loan agreement. The loan 
was fully drawn down during the year and it bears an interest rate at HIBOR plus 1% per 
annum and repayable one month prior to the maturity date on 26 August 2009.

The Group’s borrowings are denominated in HK$.
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33. OBLIGATIONS UNDER FINANCE LEASES
At 31 December 2007, the Group had obligations under finance leases repayable as follows:

The Group

 2007 2006

 Present Interest  Present Interest

 value of the expenses Total value of the expenses Total

 minimum relating to minimum minimum relating to minimum

 lease future lease lease future lease

 payments periods payments payments periods payments

 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Within 1 year shown

 under current liabilities 39 4 43 39 4 43
      

After 1 year but within

 2 years 32 4 36 39 4 43

After 2 years but within

 5 years 2 5 7 34 9 43
      

Non-current portion 34 9 43 73 13 86
      
      

Total 73 13 86 112 17 129
      

34. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED TRANSACTIONS
The Company has a share option scheme which was adopted on 20 December 2001 whereby 

the directors of the Company are authorised, at their discretion, to invite employees of the 

Group, including directors of any company in the Group, to take up options at nil consideration 

to subscribe for shares of the Company. The options vest immediately from the date of grant 

and are then exercisable within a period of three years. Each option gives the holder the right to 

subscribe for one ordinary share in the Company.
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34. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED TRANSACTIONS (cont’d)
a)  The terms and conditions of the grants that existed during the years are as follows, 

whereby all options are settled by physical delivery of shares:

 Number of  Contractual

 instruments Vesting conditions life of options

 HK$’000

Options granted to directors:

 – on 13 June 2005 800 Immediately from the date of grant 3 years

 – on 20 June 2006 650 Immediately from the date of grant 3 years

Options granted to employees:

 – on 13 June 2005 19,709 Immediately from the date of grant 3 years

 – on 20 June 2006 40,787 Immediately from the date of grant 3 years

Options granted to others:

 – on 13 June 2005 73,000 Immediately from the date of grant 3 years

 – on 20 June 2006 60,500 Immediately from the date of grant 3 years
 

Total share options 195,446
 

b) The number and weighted average exercise prices of share options are as follows:

 2007 2006

 Weighted  Weighted

 average Number average Number

 exercise price of option exercise price of option

  ’000  ’000

Outstanding at the beginning

 of the year HK$0.89 103,157 HK$0.84 122,447

Exercised during the year HK$0.89 (51,275) HK$0.78 (104,469)

Granted during the year – – HK$0.89 101,937

Lapsed during the year HK$0.63 (180) HK$1.18 (16,758)
    

Outstanding at the end of

 the year HK$0.89 51,702 HK$0.89 103,157
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34. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED TRANSACTIONS (cont’d)
b) (cont’d)

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for shares options exercised 

during the year was HK$2.02 (2006: HK$1.03).

The options outstanding at 31 December 2007 had an exercise price of HK$0.80 or 

HK$0.89 (2006: HK$0.63, HK0.80 or HK$0.89) and a weighted average remaining 

contractual life of 1.46 years (2006: 2.49 years).

c) Fair value of share options and assumptions

The fair value of services received in return for share options granted are measured by 

reference to the fair value of share options granted. The estimate of the fair value of the 

services received is measured based on binomial lattice model. The contractual life of the 

option is used as an input into this model. Expectations of early exercise are incorporated 

into the binomial lattice model.

Fair value of share options and assumptions

 2006 2005

Fair value at measurement date HK$0.23 HK$0.18

Share price HK$0.90 HK$0.79

Exercise price HK$0.89 HK$0.80

Expected volatility (expressed as weighted average

 volatility used in the modeling under binomial

 lattice model) 41% 45%

Option life (expressed as weighted average life used

 in the modeling under binomial lattice model) 3 years 3 years

Expected dividends 3.42% 3.42%

Risk-free interest rate (based on Exchange Fund Notes) 4.65% 3.21%

The expected volatility is based on the historical volatility (calculated based on the 

weighted average remaining life of the share options), adjusted for any expected changes 

to future volatility due to publicly available information. Expected dividends are based on 

historical dividends. Changes in the subjective input assumption could materially affect the 

fair value estimate.



ANNUAL REPORT 2007

Global Green Tech Group Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2007

103

35. TAX PAYABLE
 The Group

 2007 2006

 HK$’000 HK$’000

Hong Kong profits tax/overseas income tax

 At 1 January 31,143 20,897

 Exchange adjustment 1,932 696

 Provision for the year

  – Hong Kong profits tax 2,151 511

  – Overseas income tax 50,220 30,636

 52,371 31,147

 Under-provision in prior years

  – Overseas income tax – 888

 Tax paid during the year

  – Hong Kong profits tax (1,118) (714)

  – Overseas income tax (39,443) (21,771)

 (40,561) (22,485)
  

 At 31 December 44,885 31,143
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36. DEFERRED TAX
The major components of the deferred tax assets/(liabilities) provided for at the balance sheet 

date and for the year then ended are as follows:

Deferred tax assets

The Group

 Depreciation

 in excess of

 the related Revaluation of

 depreciation investment

 allowances properties Impairment loss Others Total

 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006

 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At the beginning of the year 4,638 2,822 – – 2,717 2,717 – – 7,355 5,539

Charged/(credited) to

 consolidated income 

 statement (4,638) 1,816 – – (2,717) – – – (7,355) 1,816
          

At the end of the year – 4,638 – – – 2,717 – – – 7,355
          

Deferred tax liabilities

The Group

 Depreciation

 in excess of 

 the related Revaluation of

 depreciation investment 

 allowances properties Impairment loss Others Total

 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006

 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At the beginning of the year – – (326) (326) – – (104) (104) (430) (430)

Charged/(credited) to

 consolidated income 

 statement – – (500) – – – 104 – (396) –
          

At the end of the year – – (826) (326) – – – (104) (826) (430)
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36. DEFERRED TAX (cont’d)
The Company has unused tax losses of HK$210,843,000 (2006: HK$184,841,000) available for 

offset against future profits. No deferred tax assets in respect of these unused tax losses have 

been recognised due to the unpredictability of future taxable profits streams. The tax losses do 

not expire under current tax legislation.

37. CONVERTIBLE PREFERENCE SHARES
Bio Beauty, a subsidiary of the Company, issued 91,500 convertible preference shares (“REPS”) 

of US$21,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$164,475,000) on 7 August 2007 to an 

independent third party.

The REPS contains the following major terms:

Each of the preference shares is automatically fully convertible into 100 ordinary shares of Bio 

Beauty immediately prior to the day of listing of shares of Bio Beauty on the SEHK.

The REPS, with respect to distribution of assets and liquidation, dissolution or winding up, shall 

rank prior to the ordinary shares of Bio Beauty. The REPS shall also rank in priority to dividend 

on the ordinary shares of Bio Beauty in respect of their preferential dividends, but shall not 

otherwise rank in priority to ordinary shares with respect of any other distribution and any other 

dividend.

The exchange rate of all payment to be made to the investor was fixed at US$1.00 to RMB7.80. 

The investor is entitled to a dividend of 5% payable in cash in arrears annually on the anniversary 

of the date of issue and allotment of the REPS (“Preferred Dividend”).

Investor has the option to immediately redeem any or all of its outstanding REPS any time after 

the occurrence of redemption event as defined in the instrument, which include 24 months after 

the date of issue of the REPS, at a price which would yield the investor an internal rate of return 

of 20% per annum for the first 24 months from the date of issue of the REPS (“Redemption 

Right”). The Redemption Right granted to the investor and the Preferred Dividend will be 

terminated immediately prior to the day of listing of shares of Bio Beauty on the SEHK.
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37. CONVERTIBLE PREFERENCE SHARES (cont’d)
The REPS contain three components, liability component, redemption option derivative and equity 

components. The effective interest rate of the liability component is 5.52%. The redemption 

option derivative is measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in the income 

statement. The equity component is presented in equity heading “convertible preference share 

reserve”.

The movement of the liability component and redemption option derivative of the REPS for the 

year ended 31 December 2007 is as follows:

  Redemption

 Liability option

 component  derivative Total

 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Carrying amount at date of issue 121,933 11,908 133,841

Loss arising from change in fair value – 266 266

Interest charged 3,372 – 3,372

Interest waived (note) (3,288) – (3,288)
   

Carrying amount at 31 December 2007 122,017 12,174 134,191
   

Note:  Pursuant to a letter dated 31 December 2007, the holder of the REPS decided to waive the Preferred 

Dividend for the period between 7 August 2007 and 31 December 2007.



ANNUAL REPORT 2007

Global Green Tech Group Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2007

107

38. SHARE CAPITAL
a) Authorised and issued share capital

 2007 2006

 No. of shares  No. of shares

 ’000 HK$’000 ’000 HK$’000

Authorised:

 Ordinary shares of HK$0.10

  each 2,000,000 200,000 2,000,000 200,000
    

Ordinary shares, issued and

 fully paid:

  At 1 January 1,046,579 104,658 935,193 93,519

  Exercise of warrants 85,493 8,549 6,917 692

  Exercise of share options 51,275 5,127 104,469 10,447
    

At 31 December 1,183,347 118,334 1,046,579 104,658
    

b) Exercise of warrants

During the year, warrants were exercised to subscribe for 85,493,000 (2006: 

6,917,000) ordinary shares in the Company at a consideration of HK$83,479,000 (2006: 

HK$6,681,000) of which HK$8,549,000 (2006: HK$692,000) was credited to share capital 

and the balance of HK$74,930,000 (2006: HK$5,989,000) was credited to share premium.

c) Exercise of share options

During the year, share options were exercised to subscribe for 51,275,000 (2006: 

104,469,000) ordinary shares in the Company at a consideration of HK$45,565,000 (2006: 

HK$81,535,000) of which HK$5,127,000 (2006: HK$10,447,000) was credited to share 

capital and the balance of HK$40,438,000 (2006: HK$71,088,000) was credited to share 

premium.
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38. SHARE CAPITAL (cont’d)
d) Terms of unexpired and unexercised share options at balance sheet date

 Exercise 2007 2006

Exercise period price Number Number

  ’000 ’000

7 June 2004 to 6 June 2007 HK$0.63 – 180

13 June 2005 to 12 June 2008 HK$0.80 280 1,040

20 June 2006 to 19 June 2008 HK$0.89 51,422 101,937
  

  51,702 103,157
  

Each option entitles the holders to subscribe for one ordinary share in the Company. 

Further details of these options are set out in note 34 to the financial statements.

e) Capital management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to ensure that entities in the Group 

will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to shareholders 

through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The management reviews the 

capital structure by considering the cost of capital and the risks associated with each 

class of capital. In view of this, the Group will balance its overall capital structure through 

the payment of dividends, new share issues as well as the issue of new debt or the 

redemption of existing debt as it sees fit and appropriate.

During the year, the Group’s strategy, which was unchanged from 2006, was to maintain 

a gearing ratio below 5%. The gearing ratios at 31 December 2007 and 2006 were as 

follows:

 2007 2006

 HK$’000 HK$’000

Total liabilities 583,547 415,674

Less: Cash and cash equivalents (Note 30) (472,989) (405,181)
  

Net debt 110,558 10,493

Total equity 2,494,474 1,741,861
  

Total capital 2,605,032 1,752,354
  

Gearing ratio 4.24% 0.60%
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39. RESERVES
a) The Group

       Convertible
    Share-based  Exchange preference
  Share Capital compensation Statutory fluctuation  share Retained
  premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Total
 Note HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

   (note i) (note ii) (note iii) (note iv)

At 1 January 2006  690,904 900 17,086 18,694 3,964 – 614,385 1,345,933

Exercise of warrants 38(b) 5,989 – – – – – – 5,989

Exercise of share options 38(c) 87,984 – (16,896) – – – – 71,088

Equity settled share-based 

 payments transactions  – – 11,135 – – – – 11,135

Dividend paid to a minority 

 shareholder  – – – – – – – –

2005 final dividend paid 12(b) – – – – – – (20,396) (20,396)

Exchange difference on 

 translation of financial

 statements of overseas 

 subsidiaries  – – – – 18,461 – – 18,461

Profit for the year  – – – – – – 197,039 197,039
         

At 31 December 2006 and 

 1 January 2007  784,877 900 11,325 18,694 22,425 – 791,028 1,629,249

Exercise of warrants 38(b) 74,930 – – – – – – 74,930

Exercise of share options 38(c) 52,078 – (11,640) – – – – 40,438

Transfer to statutory reserve  – – – 70,111 – – (70,111) –

Equity settled share-based 

 payments transactions  – – 9,239 – – – – 9,239

2006 final dividend paid 12(b) – – – – – – (32,772) (32,772)

Exchange difference on 

 translation of financial

 statements of overseas 

 subsidiaries  – – – – 30,709 – – 30,709

Arising from acquisition of

 additional interest in

 a subsidiary  – 165,259 – – – – – 165,259

Issue of convertible 

 preference shares of 

 a subsidiary  – – – – – 26,635 – 26,635

Profit for the year  – – – – – – 311,772 311,772
         

At 31 December 2007  911,885 166,159 8,924 88,805 53,134 26,635 999,917 2,255,459
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39. RESERVES (cont’d)
b) The Company

    Share-

    based

  Share Capital compensation Retained

  premium reserve reserve profits Total

 Note HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

   (note i) (note ii)

At 1 January 2006  690,904 89,247 17,086 86,994 884,231

Exercise of warrants 38(b) 5,989 – – – 5,989

Exercise of share options 38(c) 87,984 – (16,896) – 71,088

Equity settled share-

 based payments

 transactions  – – 11,135 – 11,135

2005 final dividend paid 12(b) – – – (20,396) (20,396)

Loss for the year 11 – – – (29,987) (29,987)
      

At 31 December 2006 and

 1 January 2007  784,877 89,247 11,325 36,611 922,060

Exercise of warrants 38(b) 74,930 – – – 74,930

Exercise of share options 38(c) – – 9,239 – 9,239

Equity settled share–

 based payments

 transactions  52,079 – (11,640) – 40,439

2006 final dividend paid 12(b) – – – (32,772) (32,772)

Profit for the year 11 – – – 10,714 10,714
      

At 31 December 2007  911,886 89,247 8,924 14,553 1,024,610
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39. RESERVES (cont’d)
b) The Company (cont’d)

Notes

i) Capital reserve
 The capital reserve of the Group includes the difference between the nominal value of the 

share/registered capital of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the group reorganisation 
carried on 28 November 2000, over the nominal value of the share capital of the Company 
issued in exchange; and amount arising from the acquisition by the Group in respect 
of additional interest of 13% in Cosmetics HK for a consideration of approximately  
HK$274,058,000 which was paid by the Company on behalf of Bio Beauty by transfer of 
13,936,390 ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each of Bio Beauty on 29 October 2007.

 The capital reserve of the Company arose as a result of the above-mentioned group 
reorganisation and represents the excess of the then combined net assets of the subsidiaries 
acquired over the nominal value of the share capital of the Company issued in exchange.

ii) Share-based compensation reserve
 The fair value of the actual or estimated number of unexercised in accordance with the 

accounting policy adopted for share-based payments in note 2(q)(ii).

iii) Statutory reserve
 Subsidiaries of the Group in the PRC, which are wholly owned-foreign enterprises, follow 

the accounting principles and relevant financial regulations of the PRC applicable to wholly 
owned-foreign enterprises (“PRC GAAP–WFOE”), in the preparation of its accounting records 
and financial statements. Pursuant to the accounting regulations for business enterprises 
(企業會計制度[財會(2000) 25號]), the subsidiaries are required to appropriate 10% of the 
profit arrived at in accordance with PRC GAAP–WFOE for each year to a statutory reserve. 
The profit arrived at must be used initially to set off against any accumulated losses. The 
appropriations to statutory reserve, after offsetting against any accumulated losses, must be 
made before the distribution of dividends to shareholders. The appropriation is required until 
the statutory reserve reaches 50% of the registered capital. This statutory reserve is not 
distributable in the form of cash dividends, but may be used to set off losses or be converted 
into paid-in capital.

iv) Exchange fluctuation reserve
 The exchange fluctuation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from 

the translation of the financial statements of foreign operations. The reserve is dealt with the 
accounting policy set out in note 2(u).

v) Distributability of reserves
 Under the Companies Law (2001 Revision) of the Cayman Islands, the share premium and 

capital reserve are distributable to the shareholders of the Company provided that immediately 
following the date on which the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in 
a position to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

 At 31 December 2007, the aggregate amount of reserves available for distribution to equity 
shareholders of the Company was HK$999,917,000 (2006: HK$791,028,000). After the 
balance sheet date the directors proposed a final dividend of nil (2006: HK$0.03) per ordinary 
share, amounting to nil (2006: HK$31,397,000), subject to the restrictions stated above. The 
dividend has not been recognised as a liability at the balance sheet date.
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
The Group’s financial assets include cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, loan 

receivables and trading securities. The Group’s financial liabilities include bank borrowings, trade 

and other payables.

The Group does not have nor has issued financial instruments for trading purposes. Exposure to 

credit, liquidity, interest rate, foreign currency fair value, economic and business risks arises in 

the normal course of the Group’s business.

a) Credit risk

i) As at 31 December 2007, the maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by 

the carrying amount of each financial asset in the consolidated balance sheets after 

deducting any impairment allowance.

ii) In respect of trade and other receivables and loan receivables in order to minimize 

risk, the management has a credit policy in place and the exposures to these credit 

risks are monitored on an ongoing basis. Credit evaluations of its customers’ 

financial position and condition is performed on each and every major customer 

periodically. These evaluations focus on the customer’s past history of making 

payments when due and current ability to pay, and take into account information 

specific to the customer as well as pertaining to the economic environment in which 

the customer operates. The Group does not require collateral in respect of its 

financial assets. Debts are usually due within 30 days from the date of billing.

iii) The majority of the Group’s investments are blue clips listed on a recognised stock 

exchange. Given their high credit standing, management does not expect any 

investment counterparty to fail to meet its obligations.

iv) The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the counterparties are banks with 

high credit ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies.
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (cont’d)
b) Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group are responsible for their own cash 

management, including the short term investment of cash surpluses and the raising of 

loans to cover expected cash demands, subject to board approval. The Group’s policy 

is to regularly monitor current and expected liquidity requirements and its compliance 

with lending covenants to ensure that it maintains sufficient amount of cash and 

adequate committed lines of funding from major financial institutions to meet its liquidity 

requirements in the short and longer term. The Group relies on bank borrowings as a 

source of liquidity.

c) Interest rate risk

i) The Group’s exposure to changes in interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s 

cash and cash equivalents, bank deposits and bank loans. The Group does not use 

financial derivatives to hedge against the interest rate risk.

ii) Sensitivity analysis

At 31 December 2007, it is estimated that a general increase of 100 basis points 

in interest rates, with all other variables held constant, would decrease the 

Group’s profit after tax and retained profits by approximately HK$2,333,000 (2006: 

HK$1,507,000).

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined assuming that the change in 

interest rates had occurred at the balance sheet date and had been applied to 

the exposure to interest rate risk for both derivative and non-derivative financial 

instruments in existence at that date. The 100 basis points increase represents 

management’s assessment of a reasonably possible change in interest rates over 

the period until the next annual balance sheet date. The analysis is performed on 

the same basis for 2006.

d) Foreign currency risk

Presently, there is no hedging policy with respect to the foreign exchange exposure. The 

Group’s transactional currencies are RMB and HK$ as substantially all the turnover are 

within Hong Kong and other parts in the PRC. With the natural hedging of the revenue and 

costs being denominated in RMB and HK$, the Group is subject to transactional foreign 

exchange exposure. RMB is not a freely convertible currency in the international market. 

The exchange rate of RMB is determined by the government of the PRC and remittance of 

these funds out of the PRC is subject to exchange restriction imposed by the government 

of the PRC.
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (cont’d)
e) Fair value

The carrying amounts of significant financial assets and liabilities approximate their 

respective fair values as at 31 December 2006 and 2007.

i) Cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, trade and other payables 

(current portion).

The carrying values approximate their fair values because of the short maturities of 

these items.

ii) Bank loans

The carrying amount of bank loans approximates their fair value based on the 

borrowing rates currently available for bank loan with similar terms and maturities.

iii) Amounts due from/to subsidiaries

It is not practical to estimate the fair values of the amounts due to the related party 

nature of these instruments.

f) Economic risk

The Group’s operations may be adversely affected by significant political, economic 

and social uncertainties in the PRC. Although the government of the PRC has been 

pursuing economic reform policies for the past years, no assurance can be given that the 

PRC government will continue to pursue such policies or that such policies may not be 

significantly altered.

g) Business risk

A substantial portion of the Group’s operations is conducted in the PRC. This includes 

risks associated with, among others, the political, economic and legal environment in the 

PRC.

41. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTION
During the year, the Group acquired 5,200,000 shares of HK$1 each in the issued share capital 

of Cosmetics HK (representing 13% of the entire issued share capital of Cosmetics HK) from an 

independent third party, Cristal Marketing, for a consideration of approximately HK$274,058,000 

which was paid by the Company on behalf of Bio Beauty.
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42. COMMITMENTS
a) Capital commitments outstanding at the balance sheet date not provided for in the financial 

statements were as follows:

 The Group

 2007 2006

 HK$’000 HK$’000

Contracted for:

 – Intangible assets 475 168

 – Plant and equipment 109,172 128,372

 – Construction-in-progress 2,936 79,620
  

 112,583 208,160
  

b) At the balance sheet date, the total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable 

operating leases in respect of office properties are payable as follows:

 The Group

 2007 2006

 HK$’000 HK$’000

Within 1 year 1,764 4,131

After 1 year but within 5 years 2,508 400

After 5 years – –
  

 4,272 4,531
  

The Group is the lessee in respect of a number of properties held under operating leases. 

The leases typically run for an initial period of one to five years, with an option to renew 

the lease when all terms are renegotiated. None of the leases includes contingent rentals.
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42. COMMITMENTS (cont’d)
c) At the balance sheet date, the total future minimum lease income under non-cancellable 

operating leases in respect of office properties are receivable as follows:

 The Group

 2007 2006

 HK$’000 HK$’000

Within 1 year 599 562

After 1 year but within 5 years 50 608

After 5 years – –
  

 649 1,170
  

43. FINANCIAL GUARANTEE
During the years ended 2007 and 2006, the Company had given corporate guarantee to a bank 

in connnection with banking facilities granted by the bank to subsidiaries. At 31 December 2007, 

such facilities were drawn down by the subsidiaries to the extent of HK$20,000,000 (2006: 

HK$20,000,000). The maximum liability of the Company under the guarantee issued represents 

the amount drawn down by the subsidiaries of HK$15,531,000 (2006: HK$7,333,000). The 

financial guarantee liability was not provided in the financial statements because the fair value of 

the guarantee was insignificant and the directors considered that a claim would not be probably 

made against the Company under the guarantee.

44. P O S S I B L E  I M PAC T  O F  A M E N D M E N T S ,  N E W  S TA N DA R D S  A N D 
INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 
31 DECEMBER 2007
Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA has issued a number of 

amendments, new HKFRSs, HKASs and interpretations which are not yet effective for the year 

ended 31 December 2007 and which have not been adopted in the financial statements.

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the impact of these amendments, 

new HKFRSs, HKASs and interpretations is expected to be in the period of initial application. 

So far it has concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant impact on the 

Group’s results of operations and financial position.
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44. P O S S I B L E  I M PAC T  O F  A M E N D M E N T S ,  N E W  S TA N DA R D S  A N D 
INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 
31 DECEMBER 2007 (cont’d)
The new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations have been issued but are not 

effective for year ended 31 December 2007 and have not been early adopted by the Group are 

as follows:

HKAS 1 (Revised) Presentation of Financial Statements1

HKAS 23 (Revised) Borrowing Costs1

HKFRS 8 Operating Segment1

HK(IFRIC) – Int 11 HKFRS 2: Group and Treasury Share Transactions2

HK(IFRIC) – Int 12 Service Concession Arrangements3

HK(IFRIC) – Int 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes4

HK(IFRCI) – Int 14 HKAS 19 – The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset,

  Minimum Funding Requirements and their Interaction3

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009.
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 March 2007.
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2008.
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2008.

45. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTION
In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements, 

the Group entered into an agreement for royalty fee and advertising subsidy with a minority 

shareholder of the Group on 1 January 2004. During the year, no (2006: HK$446,000) royalty 

fee was paid by Cristal Marketing to the Group, being 28% of net income generated from 

services rendered to the customers and any other income incidental to the sales of cosmetics 

products or services rendered to the customers in the flagshop stores. On the other hand, the 

Group sold cosmetics products totalling approximately HK$6,326,000 (2006: HK$7,815,000) to 

Cristal Marketing under normal commercial terms.

46. COMPARATIVE FIGURES
Certain comparative figures have been re-classified in conformity to the current year’s 

presentation of the financial statements.

47. APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The financial statements were approved by the Board on 10 March 2008.
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The following is a summary of the published consolidated results and of the assets and liabilities of the 

Group for each of the five years ended 31 December 2007 prepared on the basis set out in the note 

below:

RESULTS
 Year ended 31 December

 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003

 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Turnover 1,071,833 846,916 902,024 624,894 633,586
     

Profit before taxation 418,581 301,360 270,146 151,091 122,230

Income tax (60,122) (30,219) (20,794) (38,883) (31,434)
     

Profit for the year 358,459 271,141 249,352 112,208 90,796
     

Attributable to:

Equity shareholders of the 

 Company 311,772 197,039 223,305 105,096 92,238

Minority interests 46,687 74,102 26,047 7,112 (1,442)
     

Profit for the year 358,459 271,141 249,352 112,208 90,796
     



ANNUAL REPORT 2007

Global Green Tech Group Limited

Five Year Financial Summary

119

 Year ended 31 December
 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003
 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Goodwill 459,428 – – – –
Property, plant and equipment 1,085,699 940,350 408,859 300,090 198,232
Investment properties 23,500 19,240 18,500 16,000 16,000
Prepaid lease payments
 for land under 
 operating leases 172,964 128,255 128,842 9,610 46,000
Intangible assets 27,563 32,791 40,725 51,262 61,578
Payment for purchase of land
 and buildings – – – 111,120 –
Deposits for acquisition of
 property, plant and equipment 173,737 207,110 342,961 – 92,134
Deposits for acquisition of
 interests in leasehold land
 held for own use under
 operating leases – 39,015 – – 42,056
Deposits for acquisition of
 intangible assets 14,070 13,272 12,762 9,106 –
Other deposits and club 
 debenture 170 170 530 660 660
Investments in securities – – 31,500 56,944 63,100
Deferred tax assets – 7,355 5,109 4,799 3,193
Current assets 1,120,890 769,977 766,269 985,992 651,617
     

Total assets 3,078,021 2,157,535 1,756,057 1,545,583 1,174,570
     

Current liabilities 268,496 275,171 223,945 165,530 110,331
Non-current liabilities 315,051 140,503 58,808 176,250 110
     

Total liabilities 583,547 415,674 282,753 341,780 110,441
     

Net assets 2,494,474 1,741,861 1,473,304 1,203,803 1,064,129
     

Total equity attributable to:
 Equity shareholders of the
  Company 2,373,793 1,733,907 1,439,452 1,195,997 1,063,435
Minority interests 120,681 7,954 33,852 7,806 694
     

Total equity 2,494,474 1,741,861 1,473,304 1,203,803 1,064,129
     

The summary of 2003 has not been restated following the adoption of the new and revised Hong Kong 
Financial Reporting Standards in 2005.



ANNUAL REPORT 2007

Global Green Tech Group Limited

List of Principal Properties

120

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

  Lot Existing Lease Group’s

Location number use term interest

a) Global Green Tech Industrial City, * Commercial Medium 100%

 Chang Ping, Tu Tang District,

 Dongguan City, Guangdong

 Province, PRC.

* Property located in PRC without lot number.
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